
                          
 

 
 
  

  
   
3921 CHURCH STREET ♦ CLARKSTON, GEORGIA 30021 

    (404) 296-6489 ♦WWW.CLARKSTONGA.GOV 

      
 Tammi Saddler Jones, Interim City Manager 

  

CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION AGENDA          Tuesday, November 28, 2023 - 7:00PM 
                            IN-PERSON/ HYBRID   

 

1. CALL TO ORDER 
 
2. ROLL CALL   
 
3. PUBLIC COMMENTS  
 Any member of the public may address questions or comments to the City Council referencing only agenda items 

after the Mayor and Council have had the opportunity to discuss the agenda item. Each attendee will be allowed 
3 minutes for comments. 

 
4. PRESENTATION/ ADMINISTRATIVE BUSINESS  
 
5. OLD BUSINESS 

A. To discuss a resolution approving a Supplemental Letter Agreement with Davenport & Company, LLC for 
financial advisory services. 

 
6. NEW BUSINESS  

A. To discuss a resolution approving the Master Services Agreement with Flock Group, Inc. for License Plate 
Readers (LPR). 

B. To discuss a resolution approving an agreement with Georgia Association of Chiefs of Police (GACP) to 
provide promotional assessment center services to select an Assistant Police Chief. 

C. To discuss a resolution approving a Service Agreement with Fūsus for cameras. 
D. To discuss an ordinance amending Chapter 10.5 of the Code regarding the regulation of the production of 

motion pictures, television, and photograph productions.   
E. To discuss an ordinance to adopt the new Chapter 23 of the Clarkston City Code to regulate litter.  
F. To discuss amending the 2023 City Holiday Calendar adding Friday, December 22, 2023, and Friday 

December 29, 2023, as a City Holiday.  
G. To discuss the proposed 2024 City Council Regular and Work Session Meeting dates and 2024 City Holiday 

Calendar. 
H. To discuss next steps with the Brockett Triangle Community Garden. 
I. To discuss a resolution activating the Clarkston Downtown Development Authority.  
J. To discuss a resolution authorizing proposed changes to the City Council policies and procedures.     

 
7. EXECUTIVE SESSION 

A. To discuss a real estate matter. 
 

8. ADJOURNMENT  
 
PUBLIC PARTICIPATION BY VIDEO CONFERENCE  
The City of Clarkston, Georgia will conduct the City Council Work Session at 7:00 p.m. on Tuesday, 
November 28, 2023. The public may participate in the meeting in-person or by using the following 
information below:  
 
Register in advance for this webinar: 

 https://us02web.zoom.us/webinar/register/WN_IxKq_MqpQqWhNjqPsyi9mg 
 
After registering, you will receive a confirmation email containing information about joining the webinar. 

 
 

                        Councilmembers: 
       Debra Johnson-Vice Mayor              Awet Eyasu  
     Yterenickia Bell                            Laura Hopkins 
     Jamie Carroll                              Susan Hood   

                              
              

     Mayor Beverly H. Burks  

http://www.clarkstonga.gov/


Page 1 of 1 
 

CITY OF CLARKSTON 
 

WORK SESSION 
 

BUSINESS AGENDA / MINUTES 
 

MEETING DATE: November 28, 2023 
 

SUBJECT: Review/ Discuss a resolution approving a Supplemental Letter/Flat Fee Agreement with 
Davenport & Company, LLC for financial advisory services.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PURPOSE:  To discuss a Flat Fee Agreement for professional financial advisory services related to future 
public financing projects such as potential bond financial arrangements.  
  
NEED/ IMPACT:  The City is currently anticipating a new bond financing agreement if the SPLOST II 
referendum is approved in the November 7th election.  Davenport Public Finance has served as our 
professional advisory firm for financial analysis for financing arrangements since January 2018.  They 
have continually provided updated annual reports, advice, and support to city management and the 
Mayor and City Council regarding updates on our financials and debt capacity planning since that time.   
 
RECOMMENDATIONS: Staff recommends approval of the Flat Fee Agreement with Davenport Public 
Finance for professional financial advisory services. 
 

ITEM NO: 5A 

ACTION TYPE: 
Review/Discuss HEARING TYPE: 

Work Session 

DEPARTMENT: Administration 

ATTACHMENT: YES  NO 
Pages: 2 

PUBLIC HEARING:  YES NO 

INFORMATION CONTACT:  
Interim City Manager, Tammi Saddler Jones 

    



Member NYSE|FINRA|SIPC

City of Clarkston, Georgia

Discussion Materials

November 28, 2023



Davenport Re-Introduction

City of Clarkston, Georgia

November 28, 2023 City of Clarkston, Georgia 1



 Davenport & Company LLC (“Davenport”) has served as Financial Advisor to the City of Clarkston, 

Georgia (the “City”) for nearly 5 years (since 2017).

 The Financial Advisory relationship with the City has been continuously managed by Courtney E. 

Rogers, Senior Vice President and Manager of Davenport’s Georgia Public Finance practice, A. 

Ricardo Cornejo, First Vice President and the City’s Engagement Manager, Douglas J. Gebhardt, 

First Vice President and the City’s Senior Day-to-Day Contact and Christopher B. Holt, Associate 

Vice President and primary analytical support.  

 Since serving as the City’s Financial Advisor, Davenport has had the privilege to serve the City in 

a variety of engagements and act as a resource to help the City maintain a strong financial 

condition.

 Davenport has been paid 3 times since the inception of our engagement: First, for the initial 

comprehensive review and then for both the 2018 and 2020 SPLOST Bond Issuances (all were 

flat fee agreements, not commissions, and were based upon executed letter agreements). 

November 28, 2023 City of Clarkston, Georgia 2

Davenport Re-Introduction



November 28, 2023 City of Clarkston, Georgia 3

Background / Overview  
Davenport’s History with the City of Clarkston

 Davenport, in our capacity as Financial Advisor, has partnered with the City of Clarkston (the “City”) on a 

number of engagements which included but were not limited to the following: 

– Comprehensive Financial Reviews;

– Assistance with SPLOST Referenda;

– Cash Flow Analysis;

– Development of Plan of Finance(s);

– Execution of two new money Borrowings;

– Refinanced outstanding higher interest rate obligations for Debt Service savings;

– Review of, and recommendations for, City Financial Policies;

– Briefing books for new City Manager(s);

– Periodic Market Updates and Interest Rate Trends; and,

– Served as an extension for City Staff on various financial topics, as necessary.



November 28, 2023 City of Clarkston, Georgia 4

Financial Advisory Experience

Founded in 1863, Davenport & Company LLC celebrates its 160th consecutive year in business in 2023.

Davenport consistently ranks as the Top Financial Advisor in our primary footprint of Georgia, Maryland, 

North Carolina and Virginia.

Source: Thomson Reuters.

Note: Financial Advisor Rankings range form 2018-2022.

Note: Data shown is for tax-exempt public bond offerings and does not include bank loans or privately placed transactions.

Financial Advisor 

Transactions*

2018 - 2022

Maryland
Virginia 
North Carolina

Georgia

Transactions: 421

Par: $20.6 Billion

NC

MD

VA

GA



November 28, 2023 City of Clarkston, Georgia 5

Davenport’s Georgia Experience

Note:         represents a City/School District/Utility System client(s). Shaded counties indicate County clients. 

City of Thunderbolt

Savannah-Chatham County 
Public Schools

Catoosa County School District

City of Dahlonega

City of Lawrenceville

City of Norcross City of Avondale Estates

City of Brookhaven

City of Chamblee

City of Clarkston

City of Decatur

City of Doraville

City of Dunwoody

City Schools of Decatur

City of Tucker

City of Soperton

Chatham County

City of Brunswick

Brunswick-Glynn Joint W&S Comm.

City of Albany

Columbus Consolidated Government

Hospital Authority of Columbus

Muscogee County School District

City of Hogansville

City of Newnan

City of Villa Rica

City of Douglasville

Douglasville-Douglas Co. W&S Authority

City of Social Circle

Henry County

Augusta-Richmond County

Columbia County

City of Union City

City of Canton

City of Holly Springs

Cherokee County School District

Cobb County Marietta 
Water Authority 

Bartow County

Cartersville City School District

City of Hahira

City of Valdosta

City of Lake City

Davenport 

has served 

85 clients 

since 2011.

Washington County

Forsyth County

Oconee County

City of Watkinsville

Morgan County

Upson County

Etowah Water & Sewer Authority

Toombs County

Bulloch County

City of Statesboro

Grady County

City of Sandy Springs

City of Milton

Charlton County

City of Folkston

City of Sylvester

City of Morganton

City of Dalton

Dalton Public Schools

Whitfield County Schools

City of Thomasville
City of Nashville

City of Forsyth

City of Reidsville

City of Ashburn

Talbot County

Emanuel County

Habersham County

Bryan County

Bryan County Development Authority

Butts County

Macon-Bibb Urban 
Development Authority

City of Rincon

Effingham County

Polk County

Putnam County

City of Woodbury

Houston County

Pickens County

Chattooga County

City of Porterdale



November 28, 2023 City of Clarkston, Georgia 6

Unparalleled Experience with Dekalb County Cities

Clarkton

Tucker

Davenport Clients

Dunwoody

Doraville

Chamblee

Brookhaven

Stonecrest
Lithonia

Stone 
Mountain

Decatur Avondale 
Estates

Pine Lake

Note: Exclusive of Conesus-designated Places and Unincorporated Communities. 

Davenport represents 8 of the 

12 cities in Dekalb County.



Davenport’s Role as Financial Advisor

City of Clarkston, Georgia

November 28, 2023 City of Clarkston, Georgia 7



November 28, 2023 8

Financial Advisory Services

Transaction Execution 

Plan of Finance Development

Financing Option Evaluation

Credit Rating Process

Bond Sale Mechanics

Credit  Ratings

Identification of Strengths/Weaknesses

Peer Comparative Analysis

Written Credit Presentation / Tour

Analyst Meetings & Follow Up

Economic Development

Identification of Funding Options

Cost/Benefit Analysis

Cash Flow Evaluation

Special Districts/TADs/CIDs

Planning & Analytics

Debt Capacity/Affordability Analysis

Financial Policy Evaluation

Multi-Year Financial Models

Budget/CIP Modeling

City of Clarkston, Georgia



November 28, 2023 City of Clarkston, Georgia 9

Other Select Services

Planning and Analytical Services

 Strategic Planning

– Financial Policies

– Alternative Financing Structures

– Strategic Financial Plan

– Monitoring Refunding 

Opportunities

 Analytics

– Quantitative Analysis

– Financial Pro Forma

– Peer Group Comparisons

– Debt Capacity Analysis

– Debt Affordability Analysis

– Debt Structure

– Debt Management Analysis

– Computer Simulation Models

– Cash Management Analytics

Credit Ratings

 Documentation

 Written Credit Presentation

 Comparative Analysis

 Analyst Meetings

 Follow Up

 Review Reports & Commentary

Other Services

 Investment Management

 Comprehensive Financial Review

 Banking Services RFP

 Economic Development Review

 Bond Defeasance

 Referendum Assistance

Transactional Services

 Time Schedule

 Bond Covenants

 Disclosure

 Market Conditions

 Bank Placements

 Method of Sale

 Competitive/Negotiated Sale 

Mechanics

 Issue Structure

 Mailing Lists

 Pre-Sale Marketing

 Analyze Bids/Pricing

 Post-Sale Analysis

 Closing



Supporting Information for 
Supplemental Letter Agreement

City of Clarkston, Georgia

November 28, 2023 City of Clarkston, Georgia 10



November 28, 2023

Supporting Information for Supplemental Agreement

 In the 2020 Contract, the second paragraph states that additional FA services may be requested, and that 

we will agree to the Scope of Services and Fee Arrangement that will be memorialized as an addendum to 

that agreement. Davenport has been operating under that provision. 

 During a discussion with the prior City Manager in 2022, we were requested to present our Comprehensive 

Financial Review again to the City Council at the retreat. Davenport stated that we would need to create a 

supplemental agreement in order for us to do that. 

 Rather than creating another separate letter agreement for the Comprehensive Financial Review alone, 

knowing that the City had an upcoming SPLOST and other capital / financial needs, the prior City Manager 

determined that an annual flat fee agreement would be a better option.

 The flat fee agreement would cover that presentation, and all of the other work we typically do in a 

calendar year. (Note: In that discussion, the Comprehensive Financial Review fee was in the $12,500-

$15,000 range).

 Essentially, the City would be getting all the extra deliverables beyond the Financial Review at a minimal 

cost. 

11City of Clarkston, Georgia



November 28, 2023

Supporting Information for Supplemental Agreement

 Additionally, the thought was the flat fee agreement would allow us to provide our services on an ongoing 

basis at a known cost, making it easier for budgeting purposes and prevent the need for ongoing letter 

agreements.

 The hourly rates are only provided in the flat fee agreement so that it can cover something we are 

requested to do that would be materially outside of the scope of services included in the flat fee 

agreement. 

 Based on August 2022 and subsequent November 2022 meetings with the prior City Manager, in 

December 2022, Davenport sent the flat fee agreement to the City with the understanding that it would be 

brought to City Council for approval. 

 We presented the Comprehensive Financial Review under the assumption it would be covered by the flat 

fee agreement. Since then, we’ve followed up with the City numerous times and were told that our flat fee 

proposal was still being considered and to continue to hold tight. Essentially, we’re requesting that the City 

ratify the contract that was proposed and agreed upon in principal in December 2022. 

 The last time we billed the City for any of our work was in June 2020 for the work related to the SPLOST 

Bond. For Non-Transactional work from 2018-2022 (approximately 5 years) we provided the City with this 

advice without requesting compensation. This included a Comprehensive Financial Review that was 

prepared in March 2020 that was never presented due to COVID. We don’t anticipate charging the City for 

any of that work. However, given that the advice that has been and was being provided to the City was 

starting to add up, on the direction of the former City Manager we proposed the flat free agreement to 

cover our work going forward. 

12City of Clarkston, Georgia



November 28, 2023

Supporting Information for Supplemental Agreement
Financial Advisory Services in 2023

1) Comprehensive Financial Review presented at February 10th City Council Retreat

a. Market Update

b. Historical General Fund Operating Results

c. Historical Reserves

d. Debt Management (Capacity / Affordability) 

e. Peer Comparison

2) SPLOST Referenda Assistance

a. Coordinating necessary items with Staff, City Attorney and Bond Counsel

b. Developing Cash Flow Model

c. Bond Amortization(s) & Debt Service Repayment Estimates

d. Review of, and commentary on, the City Resolution’s Financial Matters 

3) General Financial Advice to Finance Director

4) Discussion(s) on Financing Options for City Hall

5) Discussion(s) on Market Conditions

13City of Clarkston, Georgia



Supplemental Letter Agreement

City of Clarkston, Georgia

November 28, 2023 City of Clarkston, Georgia 14



 

 

Member NYSE | FINRA | SIPC Page 1 

October 26, 2023 

 

Ms. Tammi Saddler Jones 

Interim City Manager 

City of Clarkston 

1055 Rowland Street 

Clarkston, GA 30021 

Dear Tammi, 

This Supplemental Letter Agreement (the “Agreement”) is entered into as of ___________, 2023 between the City of Clarkston, 

Georgia (the “City”) and Davenport & Company LLC (“Davenport”) and is specific to certain financial advisory services provided 

under the scope herein. The Agreement will serve as a supplemental agreement to our Financial Advisory Agreement dated 

March 6, 2017. 

.   

Scope of Services – Retainer Services: 

1. Annually present, to the City Staff and City Council, a State of the City Financial Review to include current and historic 

financial performances and a peer comparison review; 

2. Assist the City in the formulation of Financial and Debt Policies and Procedures. Davenport will periodically review 

these polices with recommendations for improvement;  

3. Assist the City in preparing financial presentations for public hearings and/or referendums; 

4. Assist in the development of cash flow models, including SPLOST, to review revenues, expenditures and the impact of 

potential capital projects on the City's Cash Flow; 

5. Provide debt service schedule reflecting varying interest rates, issue size and maturity structures as they are needed 

for related fiscal planning; 

6. Provide a debt capacity/affordability analysis to permit matching of existing and proposed debt service requirements 

with available resources; 

7. Advise the City of pertinent market factors and expected trends including, but not limited to, State and Federal tax 

legislation implications 

8. Review innovative financing options, including but not limited to taxable securities, variable rate products and 

underwriters’ proposals on behalf of the City;  

9. Maintain close liaison with Moody’s Investors Services, Inc., Standard’s & Poor’s Corporation, Fitch Investors Services 

and other applicable credit rating agencies and provide recommended approaches to strengthening the City’s credit 

position in advance of any formal rating discussions; 

10. Review the reports of accountants, independent engineers, and other project feasibility consultants to ensure that 

such studies adequately address technical, economic, and financial risk factors affecting the marketability of any 

proposed debt issues; attend all relevant working sessions regarding the preparation, review and completion of such 

independent studies; and provided written comments and recommendations regarding assumptions, analytic 

methods, and conclusions contained therein; 

11. Routinely review the City’s debt portfolio for potential refunding opportunities and possible debt service savings; and, 

12. If requested, attend City Council meetings and staff meetings. 

 

 

 



 
 
 

 

Member NYSE | FINRA | SIPC Page 2 

 

Compensation: 

For the professional services described under Retainer Services, Davenport proposes to be compensated through an annual 

retainer in the amount of $20,000. 

Additionally, customary direct out of pocket expenses, including mileage at the prevailing federal rate, meals and lodging will 

be billed at cost. There will be an additional fee equal to four percent (4%) of the Retainer fee amount.  

 

Additional Services: 

At the City’s discretion, additional Financial Advisory services may be requested from time to time, including investments, 

economic development projects, financings, and other services. The basis of the compensation for these engagements is 

anticipated to be hourly, flat fee or other arrangement to be mutually acceptable and agreed upon by the City and Davenport. 

Davenport’s hourly rates are as follows: 

 

Senior Vice President $350 

First Vice President $325 

Vice President $300 

Associate Vice President $275 

Analyst $250 

 

Term and Termination: 

This Agreement shall remain in effect until such time that it is terminated by either party. Either party may terminate this 

Agreement with 30-day written notice. If any party terminates this Agreement as set forth above, it is understood and agreed 

that the only amount due to Davenport will be for services provided and expenses incurred through the date of termination.  

 

City of Clarkston, GA     Davenport & Company LLC 

 

 

_______________________________   __________________________ 

Name: Tammi Saddler Jones    Ricardo Cornejo 

Title: Interim City Manager    First Vice President 

Date:  ________________________   October 26, 2023 

 

CC:  Danie Defnall, Finance Director, City of Clarkston 

Courtney Rogers, Senior Vice President, Davenport & Company LLC 

Douglas Gebhardt, First Vice President, Davenport & Company LLC 

Christopher Holt, Associate Vice President, Davenport & Company LLC 



Richmond — Headquarters

One James Center

901 East Cary Street,

Suite 1100,

Richmond, Virginia 23219 

Atlanta Office

515 East Crossville Road

Suite 380

Roswell, Georgia 30075

15November 28, 2023

Contact Information

Doug Gebhardt

First Vice President

404-825-9467

dgebhardt@investdavenport.com

Courtney Rogers

Senior Vice President

804-697-2902

crogers@investdavenport.com

Ricardo Cornejo

First Vice President

404-865-4040

rcornejo@investdavenport.com

Christopher Holt

Associate Vice President

404-922-7301

cholt@investdavenport.com

City of Clarkston, Georgia



November 28, 2023 16

Disclaimer

The U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) has clarified that a broker, dealer or municipal securities dealer engaging in municipal advisory activities outside the scope of

underwriting a particular issuance of municipal securities should be subject to municipal advisor registration. Davenport & Company LLC (“Davenport”) has registered as a municipal

advisor with the SEC. As a registered municipal advisor Davenport may provide advice to a municipal entity or obligated person. An obligated person is an entity other than a municipal

entity, such as a not for profit corporation, that has commenced an application or negotiation with an entity to issue municipal securities on its behalf and for which it will provide

support. If and when an issuer engages Davenport to provide financial advisory or consultant services with respect to the issuance of municipal securities, Davenport is obligated to

evidence such a financial advisory relationship with a written agreement.

When acting as a registered municipal advisor Davenport is a fiduciary required by federal law to act in the best interest of a municipal entity without regard to its own financial or other

interests. Davenport is not a fiduciary when it acts as a registered investment advisor, when advising an obligated person, or when acting as an underwriter, though it is required to deal

fairly with such persons,

This material was prepared by public finance, or other non-research personnel of Davenport. This material was not produced by a research analyst, although it may refer to a

Davenport research analyst or research report. Unless otherwise indicated, these views (if any) are the author’s and may differ from those of the Davenport fixed income or research

department or others in the firm. Davenport may perform or seek to perform financial advisory services for the issuers of the securities and instruments mentioned herein.

This material has been prepared for information purposes only and is not a solicitation of any offer to buy or sell any security/instrument or to participate in any trading strategy. Any

such offer would be made only after a prospective participant had completed its own independent investigation of the securities, instruments or transactions and received all

information it required to make its own investment decision, including, where applicable, a review of any offering circular or memorandum describing such security or instrument. That

information would contain material information not contained herein and to which prospective participants are referred. This material is based on public information as of the specified

date, and may be stale thereafter. We have no obligation to tell you when information herein may change. We make no representation or warranty with respect to the completeness of

this material. Davenport has no obligation to continue to publish information on the securities/instruments mentioned herein. Recipients are required to comply with any legal or

contractual restrictions on their purchase, holding, sale, exercise of rights or performance of obligations under any securities/instruments transaction.

The securities/instruments discussed in this material may not be suitable for all investors or issuers. Recipients should seek independent financial advice prior to making any

investment decision based on this material. This material does not provide individually tailored investment advice or offer tax, regulatory, accounting or legal advice. Prior to entering

into any proposed transaction, recipients should determine, in consultation with their own investment, legal, tax, regulatory and accounting advisors, the economic risks and merits, as

well as the legal, tax, regulatory and accounting characteristics and consequences, of the transaction. You should consider this material as only a single factor in making an investment

decision.

The value of and income from investments and the cost of borrowing may vary because of changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rates, default rates, prepayment rates,

securities/instruments prices, market indexes, operational or financial conditions or companies or other factors. There may be time limitations on the exercise of options or other rights

in securities/instruments transactions. Past performance is not necessarily a guide to future performance and estimates of future performance are based on assumptions that may

not be realized. Actual events may differ from those assumed and changes to any assumptions may have a material impact on any projections or estimates. Other events not taken

into account may occur and may significantly affect the projections or estimates. Certain assumptions may have been made for modeling purposes or to simplify the presentation

and/or calculation of any projections or estimates, and Davenport does not represent that any such assumptions will reflect actual future events. Accordingly, there can be no

assurance that estimated returns or projections will be realized or that actual returns or performance results will not materially differ from those estimated herein. This material may

not be sold or redistributed without the prior written consent of Davenport.

Version 01/01/2023 CH/DJG/RC/CR

City of Clarkston, Georgia



 
RESOLUTION NO. ______ 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
CLARKSTON, GEORGIA APPROVING A SUPPLEMENTAL LETTER 
AGREEMENT WITH DAVENPORT & COMPANY, LLC FOR 
FINANCIAL ADVISORY SERVICES 
 

*  *  *  *  * 
 
BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CLARKSTON, GEORGIA: 
 
Section 1. That the City Council executes the Supplemental Letter Agreement with 

Davenport & Company, LLC for financial advisory services. This agreement will serve 

as a supplemental agreement to the Financial Advisory Services Agreement dated 

March 6, 2017. A copy of said supplemental letter agreement is attached to this 

resolution as “Exhibit A” and is incorporated herein for all purposes. 
 

PASSED, APPROVED and RESOLVED this _______ day of _____________ 2023. 

 

 
              
      Beverly H. Burks, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
       
Tomika R. Mitchell, City Clerk  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 2 

EXHIBIT A 
 



Member NYSE | FINRA | SIPC Page 1 

 

 

October 26, 2023 

 
Ms. Tammi Saddler Jones 

Interim City Manager 

City of Clarkston 

1055 Rowland Street 

Clarkston, GA 30021 

Dear Tammi, 

This Supplemental Letter Agreement (the “Agreement”) is entered into as of  , 2023 between the City of Clarkston, 

Georgia (the “City”) and Davenport & Company LLC (“Davenport”) and is specific to certain financial advisory services provided 

under the scope herein. The Agreement will serve as a supplemental agreement to our Financial Advisory Agreement dated 

March 6, 2017. 

. 

Scope of Services – Flat Fee Services: 

1. Annually present, to the City Staff and City Council, a State of the City Financial Review to include current and historic 

financial performances and a peer comparison review; 

2. Assist the City in the formulation of Financial and Debt Policies and Procedures. Davenport will periodically review 

these polices with recommendations for improvement; 

3. Assist the City in preparing financial presentations for public hearings and/or referendums; 

4. Assist in the development of cash flow models, including SPLOST, to review revenues, expenditures and the impact of 

potential capital projects on the City's Cash Flow; 

5. Provide debt service schedule reflecting varying interest rates, issue size and maturity structures as they are needed 

for related fiscal planning; 

6. Provide a debt capacity/affordability analysis to permit matching of existing and proposed debt service requirements 

with available resources; 

7. Advise the City of pertinent market factors and expected trends including, but not limited to, State and Federal tax 

legislation implications 

8. Review innovative financing options, including but not limited to taxable securities, variable rate products and 

underwriters’ proposals on behalf of the City; 

9. Maintain close liaison with Moody’s Investors Services, Inc., Standard’s & Poor’s Corporation, Fitch Investors Services 

and other applicable credit rating agencies and provide recommended approaches to strengthening the City’s credit 

position in advance of any formal rating discussions; 

10. Review the reports of accountants, independent engineers, and other project feasibility consultants to ensure that 

such studies adequately address technical, economic, and financial risk factors affecting the marketability of any 

proposed debt issues; attend all relevant working sessions regarding the preparation, review and completion of such 

independent studies; and provided written comments and recommendations regarding assumptions, analytic 

methods, and conclusions contained therein; 

11. Routinely review the City’s debt portfolio for potential refunding opportunities and possible debt service savings; and, 

12. If requested, attend City Council meetings and staff meetings. 



Member NYSE | FINRA | SIPC Page 2 

 

 

 

 

Compensation: 

For the professional services described under Flat Fee Services, Davenport will be compensated through a single annual 

payment in the amount of $20,000. 

Additionally, customary direct out of pocket expenses, including mileage at the prevailing federal rate, meals and lodging will 

be billed at cost.  

 
 

Additional Services: 

At the City’s discretion, additional Financial Advisory services not included in the Flat Fee scope may be requested from time 

to time, including investments, economic development projects, financings, and other services. The basis of the compensation 

for these engagements is anticipated to be hourly, flat fee or other arrangement to be mutually acceptable and agreed upon 

by the City and Davenport. 

Davenport’s hourly rates are as follows: 

 

 

Senior Vice President $350 

First Vice President $325 

Vice President $300 

Associate Vice President $275 

Analyst $250 

 

 
Term and Termination: 

The term of this Agreement is January 1, 2023 through December 31, 2023.  This Agreement will renew for additional one-

year terms unless it is terminated by either party prior to the beginning of a new annual term or modified by the mutual 

agreement of the parties.  Either party may terminate this Agreement by giving notice to the other party prior to the beginning 

of a new annual term.   

 
 

City of Clarkston, GA Davenport & Company LLC 

 

 

 

 

 

Name: 

Title: 

Beverly H. Burks          

Mayor 

Ricardo Cornejo 

First Vice President 

Date:    October 26, 2023 

 
Approved as to form: 

 

 

_________________ 

Stephen G. Quinn 

 



Member NYSE | FINRA | SIPC Page 3 

 

 

CC: Danie Defnall, Finance Director, City of Clarkston 

Courtney Rogers, Senior Vice President, Davenport & Company LLC 

Douglas Gebhardt, First Vice President, Davenport & Company LLC 

Christopher Holt, Associate Vice President, Davenport & Company LLC 



 

 

Courtney E. Rogers 
Senior Vice President 
Public Finance 
 

Member NYSE | FINRA | SIPC Page 1 

 

Dear 

 

 Dan, 

 

On behalf of Ricardo and Doug, I wanted to thank you for taking time out of your busy schedule to meet with them 
last week at your office. We are eager to join your team as you move forward on the Streetscapes and City Hall 
Projects. 

 

As a follow-up to our visit, below please find an outline of the services we propose to provide in the form of a 
presentation to you and then to the City Council, if appropriate. With the assistance of you and your staff, we believe 
that such a presentation could be completed within 45-60 days, thus allowing you to know early in the new fiscal 
year an outside, independent perspective on your relative financial strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, including 
debt capacity, possible refundings, and challenges.  

 

It is our intent, if selected, to prepare this “Financial Overview”, for it to serve as a template for specific City action(s) 
on multiple fronts. For example, when this information is absorbed, it is intended to provide you with a clearer 
picture of what financial resources are realistically available for the General Fund and the Utility Funds’ multi-year 
capital needs. 

 

 

 

One James Center 
901 East Cary Street 
Suite 1100  
Richmond, Virginia 23219 
(804)-697-2900 
 
Cumberland Riverwood 
3350 Riverwood Parkway 
Suite 1900 
Atlanta, Georgia 30339 
(804)-697-2919 

 
 

 

March 6, 2017 

 
 
Mr. Dan Defnall 
Finance Director 
City of Clarkston 
1055 Rowland Street 
Clarkston, Georgia 30021 



 
 
Mr. Dan Defnall, Finance Director 

March 6, 2017 

 
 

 

 
Member NYSE | FINRA | SIPC Page 2 

Scope of Services  
Development of a Financial Overview (the “Presentation”) 

Davenport will complete a Financial Overview for the City’s ongoing General Fund activities and Utility Enterprise 
Funds. In connection with the Presentation, Davenport will perform the following services: 
 

1. A Historic and Pro-Forma Review of City’s Operational and Debt-Related Activities (i.e. Trend Analysis): 
• Assess the City’s historic financial performance with respect to Operations, debt-related and 

capital funding activities and fund balances over the past five years in order to determine cash-
flow trends and historical fiscal strengths and vulnerabilities. 
 

 
2. A Debt Profile – A comprehensive debt profile of the City identifying to the extent possible, the City’s  

obligations broken down by credit type, source of payment, timing and other factors. 
 
 

3. A Debt Capacity Analysis of the City to determine/provide the City Council with a range and upper limits of 
the level of debt which the City could prudently undertake, if desired. 
 
 

4. A Debt Affordability Analysis of the City (i.e. cash flow implications of the undertaking of new debt based 
upon the above Debt Capacity findings, among other factors.) 
 
 

5. A Comprehensive Peer Comparison – Written delivery of a comprehensive comparison of the City and 
other similar localities covering their economic, financial and debt profiles in Georgia and nationally. 
 
 

6. A Capital Improvement Plan Assessment and Funding Approach – Assist City staff in the development of a 
multi-year capital improvement funding strategy for tax-supported projects (i.e. General Fund) and 
revenue supported projects (i.e. Utility Fund). Assess the City’s existing Capital Improvement Plan and 
provide a series of financial analyses that illustrate a number of funding scenarios for the identified 
projects. Measure the fiscal impact of individual projects and all projects collectively. 
 
 

7. Rating Agency Strategy and Funding Implications – Address implications of the Funding Plan(s) for the CIP 
and Debt Capacity on the City’s Credit Profile. Considering available rating criteria, the characteristics and 
profile of similar credits, and quantitative analysis of the City, we objectively assess the highest, 
realistically achievable credit profile. Also, outline a series of recommendations in interacting with the 
rating agencies on a regular basis as necessary. 

 

8. Review existing Financial Policy Guidelines and provide recommendations for amending and enhancing, 
where applicable, the City’s current policies in order to best position the City for future, sustainable 
positive financial performance and rating agency reviews. 





Scanned by CamScanner

a n d  p ń n tin g /p re b e n  恤 衫 o n  m a t e đa ıs)   。

a n d  w ill r e c e iv e  a n  a m o u n t e q u a l to  4 %  o f  ttıe  fe c  a m o u n t fo r  a ll in d ire c t w n s e s  (p h o n e ,  f a x ,  c o m
p

u t e r

a ls o  b e  r e im b ıir s e d  fo r  a lı d ire c t o u t + O O C k e t  e x p e n s e s  (e .  g .  M ile a g q  lo d g iw  m e a ls  a n d  p o s ta g e )  a t c o s t

c h u g c  a  fın a n c ia ı a d v is o ry  in  th e  a n ıo u n t n o t to  e x c e e d  $ 4 0 , 0 0 0  a cc ıu s l v e  o f  e x p
e n s e s .  D a v e n p o r t w ill

lo  d a te  a n d  w o r k  e x p e d e d  fro m  th is  e n t  
ı o  彆  h  c o m p le tio n  o f  th is  tr a n s a c tio n  D a v e n p o rt w ilı

F o r itc m s  ı th ro u B h  l o in  c o n n e c tio n  w ith  th e  2 0 1 8  S a 】 s  T a x  o d  in a n c w  b a s e d  u p o n  th e  w o rk  a c c n ıe d

10 .  C o o rd in a tio n  o f  c lo s in g  a c tiv itie s .

9 .  R e v ie w  o f  c lo s in g  d o c u m e ııta tio n .

to  8 心心心n t  o r  r e je a  p ro p o s a ls 一

8 .  R e v ie w  re s u lts  w id ı th e  C ity  C o m c iı /  S ta f r  a s  n e e d e d  a n d  ın a k e  r e c o ın n ıe n d ıtio ırs  to  th e  C ity

a n d  c «»n d itio n s .

fo llo w in s  h te re s t ra le ,  t i m iıı
g  

o f ñ n a n c i n
&  

c r e a t  s t r ııc t w  p
r e

p
a

y
m e n t  

Ħ
o v i s i o n s  a n d  ıe r ın s

7 .  C o m p a re  fu n d in g  o p tio ıls  fo r  b e s t v a lu e  ta k in g  in to  a c c m t in c lu d in g  b u t ııo t liın ite d  to  th e

6 .  R e s o lv e  p o te n tia ı b u s in e s s  a n d  k g a l iss u e s  w itıı th e  p ro p o s e r s .

to  th e  C IW .  a s  r e a u e s te d .

5 .  A ıte n d a n c e  a t a ll w o rk in g  g ro u p  m e e tin g s  w ith  C iĐ r S  b o n d  0 0 e l  a n d  o ıh e r  c o tıs u lta n ts

fın a 】 f in a n c in g  s iz in g  a n d  d e b t s e r v ic e  s c h e d u ıe s .

4 .  A n a 】y z ie  re q u e¢#  f o r  p ro p o s a l r e s u lts  a n d  v a r io u s  a m o rtiz a tio n  o p tio ııs  c re a te  p lr e lim in u y  
a n d

w k in g  m o s t c o st  e ff e c tiv e  fu n d in g .

3 .  P m p a re  a n d  s e n d  a  R e q u e s t fo r  P ro p o s a l o u t to  lo c a l, r e
g

i o n a l  a n d  n a t i o ııa l  b a n k i n
g  

i n s t i n a i o n s

re c o m n ıe n d a tio n s  a s  w p ro p ń a tc .

2 .  R e v ie w  a ll d o c u m e n ta tio n  in c lu d in g  re s o lu tim s ,  r e ıa r e d  t o  e ıc h  d e b t  i s s u e  a n d  m a k e

a n d  p riD v id e  suggestio m o d if ic a ti«m s  a n d  e n h a n c e m e n ts  w h e re  a p p ro p r ia te .

1 .  R e v ie w  th e  te rm s , c o n d i t i o n s  a n d  s t r u c t u r e  o f  a  
p

r o
p

o s e d  d e b rt  o f l e r i n
g  

u n d e r ıa k e n  b
y  

t h e  c iv

se rv ic e s ,  a m o n
g

s t  o t h e n  a s  d e s i r e d  by th e  C iı 歹

In  c o n n « ū o n  w ith  th e  2 0 1 8  S a le s  T a x  B «m d  F in a n c in &  D a v e n p o r t w ilı p e r fo m ı tlıe  fo llo w in g

a n d  th e  b a s is  o f  its  c o m p eıu a tio n

ï e q u i re d  to  h a v e  a  w r itte n  a g re e m e n t w ith  th e  a w  d is c lo s in g  th e  fin a n c ia ı a d v is o ry  s e rv ic e s  it w ill p
ro v id e

In  a m r d a n c e  w ith  R u ıe  G - 23 o f  th e  M u n ic ip a l S e c u r itie s  R u la m ıa k in g  D a v e n p o r t is

C iv  in  2 0 1 8  ıb r  th e  G m e ra ] O b lig a tio n  S a le s  T a x  B o n d  (th e
"

2 0 1 8  S a l e s  T a x  B o n d  F in a n c i n
g ı  ·

(
"

D a w n p o ),  
a n d  i s  s

p
e c i f i c  a s  t o  c e r t a i n  f u u m c i a ı a d v i s o

r y  
s e r v i c e s  r e l a t e d  t o  b o n d s  b e i n

g  
i s s u e d  b

y  
t h e

b e ıw e tn  c t r y  O F  C L A R K S T O N , G ï .  O R G IA  (th e  T iy )  a n d  D A V E N P O R T  &  C O M P A N Y  L L C

T his  L E T T E R  A G R E E M E N  了  (th is
"

L e ıt e r  A
g

r e e m e n t

"

) is  e n te r e d  in to  a s  o f  J a n u a ry  2 0 ı 8

M  =  M  园  区 R  N  Y S  �   · p  I N  R  A  I  S  ı p C

S ıN C E  1 e e 3

D H W N P O R T  &



Scanned by CamScanner







CITY OF CLARKSTON 
 

WORK SESSION  
 

BUSINESS AGENDA / MINUTES 
 

MEETING DATE: November 28, 2023  
 
SUBJECT:  Review/Discuss a resolution approving the Master Services Agreement with Flock Group, Inc. 
for License Plate Readers (LPR). 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
PURPOSE:  To discuss a resolution approving the Master Services Agreement with Flock Group, Inc. for 
License Plate Readers (LPR). 

 
NEED/ IMPACT:   Flock Group, Inc. offers a software and hardware situational awareness solution 
through Flock's technology platform that upon detection is capable of capturing audio, video, image, and 
recording data and provide notifications to the City of Clarkston. This is a 5-year agreement which will keep 
the City’s cost at $2,500 per camera, which Clarkston currently has 17 cameras. The total cost is $42,500. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: N/A  

ITEM NO: 6A 

ACTION TYPE: 
Review/Discussion  HEARING TYPE: 

Work Session 

DEPARTMENT: CITY ADMINISTRATION 

ATTACHMENT:  YES   NO 
Pages:  
 

PUBLIC HEARING: YES   NO 

INFORMATION CONTACT: Chief Christine Hudson  
PHONE NUMBER: (404) 296-6489   





















































CITY OF CLARKSTON 
 

WORK SESSION  
 

BUSINESS AGENDA / MINUTES 
 

MEETING DATE: November 28, 2023  
 
SUBJECT:  Review/Discuss a resolution approving an agreement with Georgia Association of Chiefs of 
Police (GACP) to provide promotional assessment center services to select an Assistant Police Chief.  
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
PURPOSE:  To discuss a resolution approving an agreement with Georgia Association of Chiefs of Police 
(GACP) to provide promotional assessment center services to select an Assistant Police Chief.  

 
NEED/ IMPACT:  The City of Clarkston and GACP will enter into an agreement to conduct an assessment 
center to select an Assistant Police Chief for the City of Clarkston. 

RECOMMENDATION: N/A  

ITEM NO: 6B 

ACTION TYPE: 
  Review/Discussion  HEARING TYPE: 

Work Session 

DEPARTMENT: CITY ADMINISTRATION 

ATTACHMENT:  YES   NO 
Pages:  
 

PUBLIC HEARING: YES   NO 

INFORMATION CONTACT: Chief Christine Hudson  
PHONE NUMBER: (404) 296-6489   









Please find a list of the steps the Georgia Association of Chiefs of Police typically follow when conducting 
a police chief promotional assessment center. If you have any questions regarding this process, please do 
not hesitate to give me a call. 

1. City of Clarkston and GACP enter into an agreement to conduct an assessment center. 
2. Receive job announcement/job description from the City of Clarkston to review prior to 

advertising the job opening. The job announcement will be advertised on the GACP website as 
well as send broadcast message to the association membership announcing the position. Job 
opening is normally advertised for 30 days. GACP can provide a short list of other sites the city 
may wish to advertise to ensure maximum coverage and diversity. 

3. After the advertising period has concluded the City of Clarkston will forward all applications 
received to GACP for evaluation. GACP staff will review and rate the qualifications of each 
candidate.  

4. Once this review is complete, GACP staff will schedule a video conference with City of Clarkston 
representative(s) to review all of the applicants and provide an opportunity for the city to decide 
who and how many applicants will participate in the assessment center. (We normally 
recommend testing at least 8 candidates to have a good pool to move forward with after testing.) 
This process is just to identify those candidates who are the ‘best qualified’ to participate in the 
selection process. The assessment center will objectively identify the best qualified individuals. 
The city must determine which of the qualified candidates will be the ‘best fit’ for your 
community. This best determined through interviews by City of Clarkston representatives. 

5. Once the date for the assessment center is determined, GACP will send invitations to each of the 
candidates selected to participate in the assessment center. 

6. Conduct the promotional assessment center. A determination will need to be made as to the 
location of the testing. We typically prefer to have this conducted at the GACP office for a number 
of reasons. First, we require multiple staff to participate in varying portions of the testing 
processes. Second, our testing materials and equipment (laptop computers) do not have to be 
moved. Third, it provides a secure location to conduct the various testing processes without noise 
distractions as well as outside parties seeking to identify candidates participating in the process.  

7. The assessment center is composed of three components: 
• In-Basket Exam – This is a 3-hour, 45 minute paper and pencil exam. 

 
• Written Exercise – The candidates are provided with a scenario and 90 minutes to prepare 

a written response describing how they would address the issue. Each candidate is 
provided a laptop computer to prepare their response. 

 
• Oral Interview – Each candidate participates in a video recorded interview where they 

respond to 10 questions outlining how they would address issues related to providing 
police services to the city of Clarkston. 

8. All MORMAC, written testing materials and oral interviews will be graded. Oral interview 
interviews and written exercises are graded by a panel of police chiefs from cities the approximate 
size as Clarkston.  Typically, these interviews are conducted approximately one week after testing 
at the GACP office. The MORMAC exam answer sheets are forwarded to Morris and McDaniel Inc. 
in Arlington, Virginia to be graded. 



9. When all of the scores have been received and tabulated, they will be provided to the City of 
Clarkston. 

10. City of Clarkston will conduct interviews with their final selected candidates. We recommend 4 to 
5 candidates be invited to be interviewed in the event one or more drop out of the process. It also 
enables the City to avoid being required to release the names of the final candidates to the media. 

11. GACP highly recommends, at a minimum, that a background investigation be conducted of the 
final candidate. GACP contracts with the Georgia Bureau of Investigation to conduct these 
investigations for the fee of $1,000 per candidate. 

12. Cost to conduct the assessment is $850 per candidate.  There may be additional cost for GACP 
staff to conduct the assessment on-site. 

 

 

 



CITY OF CLARKSTON 
 

WORK SESSION  
 

BUSINESS AGENDA / MINUTES 
 

MEETING DATE: November 28, 2023  
 
SUBJECT:  Review/Discuss a resolution approving a Service Agreement with Fūsus for cameras to be 
purchased using the Public Safety and Community Safety Reduction Grant.   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
PURPOSE:  To discuss a resolution approving a Service Agreement with Fūsus for cameras to be 
purchased using the Public Safety and Community Safety Reduction Grant.   
 
NEED/ IMPACT: Fūsus will provide a video and data collaboration platform to expedite intelligence 
gathering and efficiency of response to situations as they unfold throughout the community. Further, the 
platform is tied to a community-facing website portal for video camera registry, providing a tool for 
identifying the location of cameras in proximity to incidents, as well as a means for efficient outreach to 
collect recorded video and image files from camera owners both public and private. 

 
RECOMMENDATION: N/A  

ITEM NO: 6C 

ACTION TYPE: 
Review/Discussion  HEARING TYPE: 

Work Session 

DEPARTMENT: CITY ADMINISTRATION 

ATTACHMENT:  YES   NO 
Pages:  
 

PUBLIC HEARING: YES   NO 

INFORMATION CONTACT: Chief Christine Hudson 
PHONE NUMBER: (404) 296-6489  



 
RESOLUTION NO. ______ 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
CLARKSTON, GEORGIA APPROVING A SERVICE AGREEMENT 
WITH FUSUS FOR CAMERAS. 
 

*  *  *  *  * 
 
BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CLARKSTON, GEORGIA: 
 
Section 1. That the City Council executes the service agreement with Fūsus to 

provide a platform to view public and community video sources for incident situation 

awareness and investigations. Fūsus will provide a video and data collaboration 

platform to expedite intelligence gathering and efficiency of response to situations as 

they unfold throughout the community. A copy of said agreement is attached to this 

resolution as “Exhibit A” and is incorporated herein for all purposes. 
 

PASSED, APPROVED and RESOLVED this _______ day of _____________ 2023. 

 

 
              
      Beverly H. Burks, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
       
Tomika R. Mitchell, City Clerk  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 2 

EXHIBIT A 
 



     

www.fūsus.com                   5550 Triangle Parkway, Ste 100, Peachtree Corners, GA 30092                    (844) 226-9226 

 

  

November 22, 2023 
Chief Christine Hudson 
Clarkston Police Department   
3291 Church Street 
Clarkston, GA 30021 
 
Subject:  Service Agreement Proposal 
 
Dear Chief Hudson, 
 
Fūsus is honored that the Clarkston Police Department is considering our organization to support its 
community safety initiatives by providing a platform to view public and community video sources for 
incident situational awareness and investigations.  
 
Fūsus will provide a video and data collaboration platform to expedite intelligence gathering and 
efficiency of response to situations as they unfold throughout the community. Further, the platform is 
tied to a community-facing website portal for video camera registry, providing a tool for identifying the 
location of cameras in proximity to incidents, as well as a means for efficient outreach to collect 
recorded video and image files from camera owners both public and private. 

This Service Agreement Proposal and related software subscription will become effective upon signing 
and continue for Forty-Eight (48) months.   

1. Initial Scope of Work:  The following fūsus Pro Package software and associated hardware will 
be delivered and installed as part of this agreement.   

 
a. fūsusONE™:  Initial setup, access and training of users to include up to 500 data points 

and 500 public/private video feeds 
b. fūsusCORE™:  Installation and setup of:  

i. Fifteen (15) fūsusCORE Pro™ Appliances 
ii. One (1) fūsusCORE Elite AI™ Appliance  

c. fūsusREGISTRY™: Creation of a custom website portal for community members to 
register privately owned cameras     

d. fūsusVAULT™:  Implementation of a CJIS compliant evidence vault for the storage of up 
to 5TB of videos and still images captured via the fūsusONE™ platform  

e. fūsusOPS™:  Implementation of the Fūsus smart-phone app which provides viewing of 
live camera feeds and setting up and transmitting the location of teams for special 
events and critical incident management  

f. fūsusANALYTICS™:  Implementation of the Fūsus crime and incident heat mapping and 
analysis platform 

g. fūsusCONNECT Call-Out:  One (1) month fūsus call-out to businesses within the 
jurisdiction to assist with camera registration and integration 

h. fūsusCONNECT Microsite:  Development of an agency specific website landing page to 
assist with building camera registration and integration of community video assets 

i. Remote Configuration of fūsus Core(s)  
j. Integration of all current and future video feeds 
k. Integration of Computer Aided Dispatch, AVL, drone feeds, covert cameras, and license 

plate readers as required   
l. Compass Security Camera Solution. Total Cost: $86,500.00 

i. See Exhibit B for Details 

http://www.fusus.com/


www.fūsus.com                   5550 Triangle Parkway, Ste 100, Peachtree Corners, GA 30092                    (844) 226-9226 
 

 
Note:  fūsus™ will provide continuing data and IoT integrations at no additional charge for 
the life of the agreement   
 

2. Payment and Subscription Terms: 
 

a. Payment 1: Due Upon Contract Signing     $161,500 
b. Payment 2: Due Upon 1st Anniversary of Contract Signing   $75,000 
c. Payment 3: Due Upon 2nd Anniversary of Contract Signing   $75,000 
d. Payment 4: Due Upon 3rd Anniversary of Contract Signing   $75,000 

Invoices for payments 2, 3 and 4 will be sent 60 days prior to their respective due dates. 

Note: Additional fūsusCORE™ appliances may be purchased for the following per unit price 
schedule. 

 
a. CORE Lite:     $200/each  
b. CORE Lite Extended:   $300/each  
c. CORE Pro:     $600/each  
d. CORE Pro Extended:   $1,000/each  
e. CORE Elite:     $4,000/each  
f. CORE Elite AI:    $5,000/each 

 
3. Bill of Materials Included with the Service:  As part of the annual subscription price, each system 

will include the following:  
 

a. fūsusONE™ SaaS 
b. Unlimited video alerts, access, and video download 
c. fūsusCORE™ warranty and technical support for the life of the agreement 
d. Unlimited fūsusOPS Application for Android and iOS Devices  

 
Subscription to fūsusONE™ includes all the following: 

a. Unlimited Users for Your Agency to fūsusONE™ – Real-Time Crime Center in the Cloud 
b. Unlimited Access for Your Agency to the fūsusONE™ Dashboard 
c. Floorplan Integration for designated locations in fūsusONE™   
d. Ongoing Integration Services with the CAD System  
e. Installation and Technical Phone Support 
f. Provide a Full Solution Warranty for the Life of the Agreement 
g. Live U.S.-Based Phone Technical Support for the Life of the Agreement  

 
4. Technical Requirements: 

 
a. Camera live-sharing compatibility will be assessed for each location before CORE 

delivery.  
b. The customer will designate a primary POC for the deployment of the fūsus™ solution.   
c. Minimum network speed of .5 mb/s for live video sharing will be required for each CORE 

location.   
 
 
 

http://www.fusus.com/


www.fūsus.com                   5550 Triangle Parkway, Ste 100, Peachtree Corners, GA 30092                    (844) 226-9226 
 

5. Terms and Conditions: 
 
The use of and access to fūsus™ products and services is subject to the fūsus™ Terms of 
Service found at https://www.fusus.com/fusus-terms-of-service.    
 
The Termination for Convenience Clause Asserts that the customer may, at its sole discretion, 
terminate the agreement with 30 days of written notice to Fūsus.  Services will be reimbursed on 
a pro-rated basis from the last day of the term through the agreement’s remainder.  The cost of 
any unreturned or unserviceable fūsusCORE(s), as listed above in Section 2, will be deducted 
from the refund. 
 

We are privileged to work with you on this project. Should you have any questions at any time, please 
feel free to call (765) 237-1769 or email me at jdw@fūsus.com. 
 
Respectfully, 
 
 
 
John Watson 
Vice President of Sales  
 
 
       
Approved (Signature):   _______________________________________________ 
 

By (Print Name/Title):  ______________________________________   Date  __________ 
   
 

http://www.fusus.com/
https://www.fusus.com/fusus-terms-of-service


Clarkston Police Department
Clarkston Police Department

1055 Rowland Street

Clarkston, GA 30021

Christine Hudson

Chief

chudson@cityofclarkston.com

404-391-4178

Reference: 20231122-150547347

Quote created: November 22, 2023

Quote expires: December 30, 2023

Quote created by: Jim Price

Public Safety Advisor

jp@fusus.com

Products & Services

Item & Description SKU Quantity Unit Price Total

Pro Package SaaS FUSE-S-1-

1001

1 $75,000.00 

/ year

$75,000.00 / year

Core Elite AI Appliance CORE-AI-

2001

1 $5,000.00  $0.00

Core Pro Appliance CORE-P-

2001

15 $600.00  $0.00

Compass Security Camera

Solution

FUSE-CSS-

POLE-

UNIT

1 $86,500.00  $86,500.00

Total $161,500.00

SaaS Subscription to Include 500 Data 

Points/Video Streams and 5 TBs of 

Cloud Storage

for 4 years

after $5,000.00

discount

after $9,000.00

discount

Compass Security Camera Solution 

(See Attached Exhibit)



Purchase terms

Questions? Contact me!

Jim Price

Public Safety Advisor

jp@fusus.com

Fusus, Inc.

5550 Triangle Parkway

Peachtree Corners, Georgia 30092

United States of America



 

 

  

Statement of qualifications and pricing 
Security Camera Systems 
 

PREPARED BY: Thomas Frey  
 

PREPARED FOR:  The City of Clarkston 
 



  

 

Statement of qualifications and pricing 
SECURITY CAMERA SYSTEM 
 

PREPARED FOR: City of Clarkston 
Compass Security Solutions 
 
 

Miliam Park Field: 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Miliam Park Pool:  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 



  

 

Statement of qualifications and pricing 
SECURITY CAMERA SYSTEM 
 

PREPARED FOR: City of Clarkston 
Compass Security Solutions 
 
 

 
Friendship Forrest Parking Lot: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Friendship Forrest Lower:  
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

  



  

 

Statement of qualifications and pricing 
SECURITY CAMERA SYSTEM 
 

PREPARED FOR: City of Clarkston 
Compass Security Solutions 
 
 

PROPOSED COST: 
 
MILIAM PARK: 
 

Mfg. Description Qty 

 CMS Bosch MARC Pole Unit 

$45,600 total ($7,600 each) 

6 

 CMS 15’ Tower 

$1,750 total 

1 

  *electrical not included, must get 120 volts 

AC to the tower 

 

   

 

 

 Equipment 

 Labor &Misc. 

 Total 

 $47,350.00 

$3,950.00 

$51,300.00 

 

 

FRIENDSHIP FORREST: 
 

Mfg. Description Qty 

 CMS Bosch MARC Pole Unit  

$15,200 total ($7,600 each) 

2 

 CMS 15’ Tower 

$1,750 total 

1 

  *electrical not included, must get 120 volts AC 

to the tower 

 

    

 Equipment 

 Labor & Misc.  

 Total 

 $16,950.00 

$2,150.00 

$19,100.00 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 



  

 

Statement of qualifications and pricing 
SECURITY CAMERA SYSTEM 
 

PREPARED FOR: City of Clarkston 
Compass Security Solutions 
 
 

BROCKETT ROAD – EAST PONCE INTERSECTION: 
 

Mfg. Description Qty 

 CMS Bosch MARC Pole Unit 1 

    

 Equipment 

 Labor 

 Total 

 $7,600.00 

$450.00 

$8,050.00 

 
 

MONTREAL ROAD – CLARKSTON STATION APARTMENTS: 
 

Mfg. Description Qty 

 CMS Bosch MARC Pole Unit 1 

    

 Equipment 

 Labor 

 Total 

 $7,600.00 

$450.00 

$8,050.00 

 

 
 

TOTAL OVERALL PRICE = $86,500.00 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 



  

 

Statement of qualifications and pricing 
SECURITY CAMERA SYSTEM 
 

PREPARED FOR: City of Clarkston 
Compass Security Solutions 
 
 

Terms & Conditions: 
 

Compass Security Solutions (CSS) Terms and Conditions 

 
1. At the acceptance of this quote, Compass will perform an exact take off for the equipment.  Then we will provide 

a scope of work and schedule for completion.  All prices are good for 30 days, and the quote is based upon normal 
working hours of 8:00 am to 5:00 pm Monday thru Friday.  A 15% restocking fee will be charged on all cancelled 

orders after acceptance. 

2. TAXES: Prices exclude (unless otherwise noted in the proposal) all duties, taxes, tariffs, or other governmental 

charges that now are, or hereafter may be, imposed upon the sale or use of the Products or Services. All such 

duties, taxes, tariffs, or other charges paid by Compass Security Solutions (CSS) shall be for Purchaser’s account. 

Any exemption claimed paid by CSS shall be for Purchaser’s account. Any exemption claimed from the 

application of such duties, taxes, tariffs, or other charges should be plainly designated on the face of orders placed 

with CSS and accompanied by exemption certificates where required. If during the duration of any contract / 

project, there is an increase or decrease from the quoted tax amount due to changes by the corresponding 

local/county/state entities that amount will be passed through to the customer at cost.  

3. PRICE VALIDITY: The prices set forth in this proposal are predicated on receipt of a contract or Purchase Order 
within 30 days from the date of this proposal. If 30 days have passed and performance is required, CSS reserves 

the right to revise the pricing in this proposal to reflect current material and labor market prices and current site 

conditions. 

4. PURCHASER SPECIFICATIONS: CSS assumes no liability for any errors or omissions in any specification 

provided by the purchaser, including any errors or omissions made by CSS in the interpretation of any such 

specifications. Any items included in any specification provided by the purchaser and not listed and priced on 

CSS’s proposal are not part of this Agreement. 

5. LIQUIDATED DAMAGES: CSS will not be responsible for any liquidated damages other than those attributed 

to delays caused solely by CSS. If CSS is one of several contractors responsible for delays, CSS will only be 

responsible for a pro rata share of liquidated damages to the extent attributable to or cause by CSS. CSS will not 

be responsible for any liquidated damages in an amount greater than that assessed against CSS. 

6. CANCELLATION: This Agreement cannot be cancelled or postponed by the Purchaser except with CSS’s 
consent and upon terms that will indemnify CSS against loss. Accordingly, Purchaser shall pay CSS the greater 

of (i) a charge equal to 10% of its total price or (ii) reasonable cancellation charges, CSS’s anticipated profit, 

restocking fees, and expenses already incurred by CSS in performing or preparing to perform the work required 

by Purchaser’s order, as invoiced by CSS. CSS reserves the right to cancel this Quotation Agreement if excessive 

downtime is encountered which, in the discretion of CSS, is beyond its control (limited access to work area, 

training, etc.) or if customer fails to comply with any term of this agreement.  The CSS billable rate for downtime 

is per CSS standard rates. 

7. INSPECTION: Within five business days of receipt of the Products and Services, Purchaser shall inspect the 

Products and Services to check for shortages or any other nonconformity. Unless Purchaser shall thereafter notify 

CSS in writing of any nonconformity (other than that relating to loss or damage in transit, which claims will be 

made directly to the carrier) within ten days of inspection, Purchaser shall be deemed to have accepted the 
Products and Services without any qualifications and cannot, thereafter, reject the Products and Services for any 

reason. In any event, Products and Services accepted and used shall be deemed to have been accepted in good 

condition and in compliance with the specification and order therefore. 

 

 

 



  

 

Statement of qualifications and pricing 
SECURITY CAMERA SYSTEM 
 

PREPARED FOR: City of Clarkston 
Compass Security Solutions 
 
 

8. GOVERNING LAW: The terms of this quotation shall be governed and interpreted in accordance with the laws 

of the State of Georgia.  If any provision of this Quotation Agreement shall be held by a court of competent 

jurisdiction to be contrary to law, the remaining provisions shall remain in full force and effect.           

9. EXISTING CODE VIOLATIONS: Existing code violations requiring correction by the local authority inspectors 

is the responsibility of the customer and is not included in CSS’s pricing. 
10. PAYMENTS: Payment is due Net 30.  

11. CREDIT CARD PAYMENTS: Payments rendered by credit cards will be subject to an additional 3% 

convenience fee that will be added to the balance being paid. 

12. DELINQUENT PAYMENTS: If any amount owning to CSS under the terms hereof is not paid when due, interest 

shall accrue on any unpaid balance at a rate of 1.5% (1% for Georgia customers per O.C.G.A. § 13-11-2) simple 

interest every thirty (30) days.  Additionally, in the event full payment is not made and CSS is required to institute 

legal proceeding to collect amounts owing hereunder, the party against whom enforcement is sought shall be 

required to reimburse CSS for all reasonable costs of collection, including attorneys’ fees, if CSS is ultimately 

successful in prosecuting its claims. 

13. DISCLAIMER: Replacement of Unit is covered by CSS only for vandalism or hardware failure during the course 

of the subscription.  Acts of God, and customer inflicted damage, are not covered by CSS for the replacement of 

the unit.  
14. ACCEPTED:  This Quotation Agreement and any exhibits attached hereto constitutes the entire agreement 

between parties concerning the subject matter hereof, superseding all prior negotiations, discussions, and 

agreements, oral or written. The above prices, specifications and all conditions are satisfactory and are hereby 

accepted.  CSS is authorized to do work as specified.  Payment will be made as outlined above. 

  
 
 
 
The above Terms & Conditions and prices and terms are satisfactory and hereby accepted.   
 
____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Authorized Representative’s                             Printed Name                             Title 
 
____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Authorized Representative’s                             Signature                                     Date 
 
______________Thomas Frey _________________________________________President___ _______  
Authorized Compass Security Solutions Representative’s Printed Name                Title 
 
________________________________________________________________               _____________ 
Authorized Compass Security Solutions Representative’s Signature                        Date 
 
 

 



CITY OF CLARKSTON 
 

WORK SESSION  
 

BUSINESS AGENDA / MINUTES 
 

MEETING DATE: NOVEMBER 28, 2023  
 
SUBJECT:  Review/Discuss an ordinance amending Chapter 10.5 of the Code regarding the regulation of 
the production of motion pictures, television, and photograph productions. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PURPOSE:  To discuss amending Chapter 10.5 of the Code regarding the regulation of the production of 
motion pictures, television, and photograph productions. 

 
NEED/ IMPACT: The Planning and Economic Development Manager and City Clerk met to discuss the 
Film Permit process and found that it would be more efficient and effective for the City’s Planning and 
Economic Development Manager to administer the Film Permit process under Chapter 10.5 of the City 
Code rather than the City Clerk. This request is only to amend the ordinance removing the City Clerk as the 
administrator under Chapter 10.5 and adding the Planning and Economic Development Manager.   

 
RECOMMENDATION: N/A  

ITEM NO: 6D 

ACTION TYPE: 
Review/Discussion  HEARING TYPE: 

Work Session 

DEPARTMENT: CITY ADMINISTRATION 

ATTACHMENT:  YES   NO 
Pages:  
 

PUBLIC HEARING: YES   NO 

INFORMATION CONTACT:  
Tomika R. Mitchell, City Clerk  
Lisa Cameron, Planning & Economic Development 
Manager  
PHONE NUMBER: (404) 296-6489  



ORDINANCE NO. ______________ 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND CHAPTER 10.5 OF THE CODE REGARDING 
THE REGULATION OF THE PRODUCTION OF MOTION PICTURES, 
TELEVISION AND PHOTOGRAPHIC PRODUCTION TO DESIGNATE THE 
CITY’S PLANNING AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT MANAGER THE 
ADMINISTRATOR OF SAID CHAPTER RATHER THAN THE CITY CLERK. 

WHEREAS, the City of Clarkston recognizes that the motion picture, television and 
commercial producing industries are a vital part of the economy; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Clarkston and its neighborhoods are desirable locations to 
produce motion pictures, television and commercial productions; and 

WHEREAS, in 2010 the Clarkston City Council adopted Chapter 10.5 of the Code of 
Ordinances to regulate motion picture and television production in order to protect its 
residents and businesses from the potential adverse impacts of filming activities on public 
spaces, vehicle and pedestrian traffic and the safety of bystanders; and 

WHEREAS, the Clarkston City Council finds that it would be more efficient and 
effective for the City’s Planning and Economic Development Manager to administer 
Chapter 10.5 of the City Code rather than the City Clerk. 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY the Clarkston City Council as follows: 

SECTION 1. Section 10.5-3 of the City Code is hereby amended to delete the 
words “City Clerk” and insert the words “Planning and Economic Development 
Manager” therefore. 

SECTION 2.  Section 10.5-5(a) of the City Code is hereby amended to delete the 
words “City Clerk” and insert the words “Planning and Economic Development 
Manager” therefore. 

SECTION 3.  Section 10.5-7 of the City Code is hereby amended to delete the 
words “City Clerk” and insert the words “Planning and Economic Development Manager 
therefore. 

SECTION 4.  Section 10.5-8(2) of the City Code is hereby amended to delete the 
words “City Clerk” and insert the words “Planning and Economic Development 
Manager” therefore. 

SECTION 5.  Section 10.5-9 of the City Code is hereby amended to delete the 
words “City Clerk” and insert the words “Planning and Economic Development 
Manager” therefore in subsections (a)(2) and (b). 



SECTION 6.  Section 10.5-11 of the City Code is hereby amended to delete the 
words “City Clerk” and insert the words “Planning and Economic Development 
Manager” therefore. 

SECTION 7.  All ordinances and parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby 
repealed.  This ordinance shall become effective upon the date of its adoption. 

SO ORDAINED this ___ day of ___________________, 2023 

_______________________ 
Mayor Beverly H. Burks 

Attest: 

____________________ 
Tomika Mitchell 
City Clerk 

Approved as to form: 

_____________________________ 
Stephen G. Quinn 
City Attorney  



CITY OF CLARKSTON 
 

WORK SESSION  
 

BUSINESS AGENDA / MINUTES 
 

MEETING DATE: NOVEMBER 28, 2023  
 
SUBJECT:  Review/Discuss an ordinance to adopt the new Chapter 23 of the Clarkston City Code to 
regulate litter. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PURPOSE:  The purpose of this ordinance is to protect public health, safety, environment, and general 
welfare through the regulation and prevention of litter. 
 
NEED/ IMPACT: The objectives of this ordinance are: (1) Provide for uniform prohibition throughout the 
City of Clarkston of any and all littering on public or private property; and, (2) Prevent the desecration of 
the beauty and quality of life of the City of Clarkston and prevent harm to the public health, safety, 
environment, and general welfare, including the degradation of water and aquatic resources caused by litter.  

 
RECOMMENDATION: N/A  

ITEM NO: 6E 

ACTION TYPE: 
Review/Discussion  HEARING TYPE: 

Work Session 

DEPARTMENT: CITY ADMINISTRATION 

ATTACHMENT:  YES   NO 
Pages:  
 

PUBLIC HEARING: YES   NO 

INFORMATION CONTACT:  
Tammi Saddler Jones, Interim City Manager  
Larry Kaiser, Collaborative Services 
PHONE NUMBER: (404) 296-6489  



ORDINANCE NO. 

AN ORDINANCE TO ADOPT NEW CHAPTER 23 OF THE CLARKSTON CITY 
CODE TO REGULATE LITTER. 

WHEREAS, litter found throughout our community often finds its way into our streams, 
rivers and lakes and detracts from our quality of life; and 

WHEREAS, pollutants carried into our streams, rivers, and lakes by litter diminish the 
quality of our water and its aquatic resources; and 

WHEREAS, litter control regulations provide a prohibition against littering and provide 
an enforcement mechanism with penalties for dealing with those found littering; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Clarkston desires to enact regulations prohibiting littering in 
order to protect the natural environment of the City of Clarkston. 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED by the Clarkston City Council as follows: 

Section 1. The attached document entitled “Chapter 23 – Litter Control Ordinance” and 
consisting of four (4) pages is hereby adopted as new Chapter 23 of the Clarkston City 
Code. 

Section 2. This ordinance shall be effective immediately upon is adoption. 

SO ORDAINED this ____ day of ______________, 2023. 

ATTEST: 

 

Tomika Mitchell, City Clerk 

CITY OF CLARKSTON, GEORGIA 

 

Beverly H. Burks, Mayor 

Approved as to Form: 

____________________ 
Stephen G. Quinn 
City Attorney 



1 
 

CHAPTER 23 
LITTER CONTROL ORDINANCE 

 

ARTICLE I. GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 
 
SECTION 23-1 Purpose and Intent 
The purpose of this ordinance is to protect the public health, safety, environment, and 
general welfare through the regulation and prevention of litter. The objectives of this 
ordinance are: 

 
(1) Provide for uniform prohibition throughout the City of Clarkston of 

any and all littering on public or private property; and, 
(2) Prevent the desecration of the beauty and quality of life of the City of 

Clarkston and prevent harm to the public health, safety, environment, and 
general welfare, including the degradation of water and aquatic resources 
caused by litter. 

SECTION 23-2 Applicability 
This ordinance shall apply to all public and private property within the City of Clarkston. 

 
SECTION 23-3 Compatibility with Other Regulations 
This ordinance is not intended to interfere with, abrogate, or annul any other ordinance, 
rule or regulation, stature, or other provision of law. The requirements of this ordinance 
should be considered minimum requirements, and where any provision of this ordinance 
imposes restrictions different from those imposed by any other ordinance, rule or 
regulation, or other provision of law, whichever provisions are more restrictive or impose 
higher protective standards for human health or the environment shall be considered to 
take precedence. 

 
SECTION 23-4 Severability 
If the provisions of any article, section, subsection, paragraph, subdivision or clause of this 
ordinance shall be judged invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, such order of 
judgment shall not affect or invalidate the remainder of any article, section, subsection, 
paragraph, subdivision or clause of this ordinance. 

 
ARTICLE II. DEFINITIONS 

“Litter” means any organic or inorganic waste material, rubbish, refuse, garbage, trash, 
peelings, debris, grass, weeds, ashes, sand, gravel, slag, metal, plastic, and glass containers, 
broken glass, dead animals or intentionally or unintentionally discarded materials of every 



2 
 

kind and description which are not "waste" as such term is defined in O.C.G.A., 
§16-7-51, paragraph 6. 
“Public or private property” means the right of way of any road or highway; any body of 
water or watercourse; any park, playground, building, refuge, or conservation or recreation 
area; timberlands or forests; and residential, commercial or industrial properties. 

 

ARTICLE III. PROHIBITION AGAINST WASTE DISPOSAL AND 
LITTERING IN PUBLIC OR PRIVATE PROPERTY OR WATERS 

 
Section 23-5  Littering in Public 

 
It shall be unlawful for any person or persons to dump, deposit, throw or leave or to cause or 
permit the dumping, depositing, placing, throwing or leaving of litter on any public or private 
property in City of Clarkston or any waters in City of Clarkston unless: 

 
a) The property is designated by the State or by any of its agencies or political 

subdivisions for the disposal of such litter, and such person is authorized by 
the proper public authority to use such property; 

b) The litter is placed into a receptacle or container installed on such property; or, 
c) The person is the owner or tenant in lawful possession of such property, or has 

first obtained consent of the owner or tenant in lawful possession, or unless the act 
is done under the personal direction of the owner or tenant, all in a manner 
consistent with the public welfare. 

Section 23-6  Waste and disposal thereof 
 

(1) It shall be unlawful to set fire to any leaves, rubbish, or trash of any kind 
anywhere in the city, in accordance with the provisions of  section 9-12 of this 
Code. 

(2) It shall be unlawful for any person to deposit offal or dead animals at any 
place within the city 

(3) It shall be unlawful to sweep or push litter from sidewalks into the streets. Such 
litter shall be deposited in a proper receptacle which shall be covered to prevent 
scattering by wind and animal. 

(4) It shall be unlawful for any person to use the streets, sidewalks or gutters as 
means of drainage to carry off any used and dirty water or other liquid 
substances that are damaging to the environment from kitchen or elsewhere 
into any streets of the city. 

 
ARTICLE IV. TRANSPORT OF WASTE, TRASH, JUNK AND 
OTHER MATERIAL 

(1) No person including city refuse collectors or municipal solid waste contractors 
shall haul or transport for any distance, any load including but not limited to 
dirt, soil, sand, rubbish, or other material unless the load is adequately secured 

https://library.municode.com/ga/clarkston/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIICOOR_CH9FIPR_S9-12OUBUPREX


3 
 

to prevent the material from dropping, shifting, leaking or being blown off du e 
to transportation of such load onto the roadway. The operator or owner of the 
offending vehicle shall be personally responsible for any violation of this 
section. 

(2) It shall be unlawful for any person or contractor or business not licensed by the city 
to collect and haul any refuse other than that arising from such person's own 
accumulation within any areas of the city in which refuse collection service is 
maintained by the city. 

 

ARTICLE V. ANIMAL WASTE IN PUBLIC AREAS AND 
COMMON AREAS OF MULTIFAMILY DWELLINGS 

(1) It shall be unlawful for the owner or custodian of any animal to allow waste from 
such animal to be deposited or remain on the ground of any public area within 
City owned property or common area of a multifamily dwelling. Any such waste 
shall be cleaned up and removed by the owner or custodian of such animal. 

(2) In the event that the owner or custodian of any animal cannot be identified, the 
management of any multifamily dwelling where animal waste is found in a 
common area shall be responsible for the removal of such waste and shall keep 
common areas free and clear of all animal waste. 

ARTICLE VI. VIOLATIONS, ENFORCEMENT AND PENALTIES 
 

Section 23-7  Enforcement 
(1) The Director of Public Works, the Code Enforcement Officer, and the duly 

sworn police officers of the city are hereby empowered to issue citations to, or 
to arrest, persons violating the provisions of this section, and may serve and 
execute all warrants, and other process, issued by the court in enforcing the 
provisions of said section. In addition, mailing by certified mail of such 
process to his last known place of residence shall be deemed as personal 
service upon the person charged. 

(2) Whenever any person is arrested for a violation of this section, the arresting 
officer shall take the name and address of such person and issue a complaint, 
summons or otherwise notify him in writing to appear at a time and place 
specified in such complaint or notice. Said offenses shall be tried in the 
Municipal Court and shall be subject to the fines and/or imprisonment upon 
conviction as set forth in section 1-7 of this Code of Ordinances. 

 
Section 23-8  Violations 
It shall be unlawful for any person to violate any provision or fail to comply with any of the 
requirements of this ordinance. Any person who has violated or continues to violate the 
provisions of this ordinance, may be subject to the enforcement actions outlined in this 
section or may be restrained by injunction or otherwise sentenced in a manner provided by 
law. 

 

https://library.municode.com/ga/clarkston/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIICOOR_CH1GEPR_S1-7GEPECOVI


4 
 

Section 23-9  Evidence 
(1) Whenever litter is thrown, deposited, dropped or dumped from any motor 

vehicle, or other conveyance in violation of this ordinance, it shall be prima 
facie evidence that the operator of the conveyance has violated this 
ordinance. 

(2) Except as provided in subsection (1), whenever any litter which is dumped, 
deposited, thrown or left on public or private property in violation of this 
ordinance is discovered to contain any article or articles, including but not 
limited to letters, bills, publications or other writing which display the name 
of the person thereon in such a manner as to indicate that the article belongs or 
belonged to such person, it shall be a rebuttable presumption that such person 
has violated this ordinance. 

 
Section 23-10 Penalties 
Any person who violates this ordinance shall be guilty of a violation and, upon conviction 
thereof, shall be punished as follows: 

 
(1) By a fine of not less than $250 and not more than $1,000; and 
(2) In addition to the fine set out in subsection 1 above, the violator shall 

reimburse the City of Clarkston for the reasonable cost of removing the 
litter when the litter is or is ordered removed by the City of Clarkston; 

(3)  
a) In the sound discretion of the court, the person may be directed to 

pick up and remove from any public street or highway or public right-
of way within the City limits any litter he has deposited and any and 
all litter deposited thereon by anyone else prior to the date of 
execution of sentence; or 

 
b) In the sound discretion of the court, the person may be directed to pick 

up and remove any and all litter from any public property, private 
right-of-way, or with prior permission of the legal owner or tenant in 
lawful possession of such property, any private property upon which it 
can be established by competent evidence that he has deposited litter. 
Pick up and removal shall include any and all litter deposited thereon 
by anyone prior to the date of execution of sentence; and, 

(4) The court may publish the names of persons convicted of violating this 
ordinance. 



CITY OF CLARKSTON 
 

WORK SESSION  
 

BUSINESS AGENDA / MINUTES 
 

MEETING DATE: November 28, 2023  
 
SUBJECT:  Review/Discuss amending the 2023 City Holiday Calendar adding Friday, December 22, 
2023, and Friday December 29, 2023, as a City Holiday.   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
PURPOSE:  To discuss amending the 2023 City Holiday Calendar adding Friday, December 22, 2023, 
and Friday December 29, 2023, as a City Holiday.   

 
NEED/ IMPACT: Amend the 2023 City Holiday Calendar adding Friday, December 22, 2023 (Christmas 
Eve – Observed) and Friday, December 29, 2023 (New Year’s Eve – Observed), as city holidays. Having 
these dates off will allow our city employees to have time to travel and/or prepare to celebrate the holiday 
seasons with their family and friends. I hope that the Council will support this recommendation.  

 
RECOMMENDATION: N/A  

ITEM NO: 6F 

ACTION TYPE: 
Review/Discussion  HEARING TYPE: 

Work Session 

DEPARTMENT: CITY ADMINISTRATION 

ATTACHMENT:  YES   NO 
Pages:  
 

PUBLIC HEARING: YES   NO 

INFORMATION CONTACT:  
Tammi Saddler Jones, Interim City Manager  
PHONE NUMBER: (404) 296-6489  



 

 

 

2023 CITY HOLIDAYS 
 

Unless otherwise noted City Offices are closed on the following 13 days 

 

   DATE     HOLIDAY 

 1. MON, JAN 2, 2023   DAY AFTER NEW YEAR’S DAY (previously adopted in 2021) 

 2. MON, JAN 16   MARTIN LUTHER KING JR DAY 

 3. MON, FEB 20   PRESIDENT’S DAY 

 4. FRI, APRIL 7    SPRING DAY 

 5. MON, MAY 29   MEMORIAL DAY 

 6. MON, JUN 19   JUNETEENTH CELEBRATION 

 7. TUE, JULY 4    INDEPENDENCE DAY 

 8. MON, SEP 4    LABOR DAY 

 9. FRI, NOV 10    VETERAN’S DAY 

 10. THU, NOV 23   THANKSGIVING DAY 

 11. FRI, NOV 24    DAY AFTER THANKSGIVING 

 12. MON, DEC 25   CHRISTMAS DAY 

 13. MON, JAN 1, 2024   NEW YEAR’S DAY  

 



CITY OF CLARKSTON 
 

WORK SESSION  
 

BUSINESS AGENDA / MINUTES 
 

MEETING DATE: November 28, 2023  
 
SUBJECT: Review/Discuss the proposed 2024 City Council Regular and Work Session Meeting dates and 
City Holiday Calendar. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PURPOSE:  To review and discuss the proposed 2024 City Council Regular and Work Session Meeting 
dates and City Holiday Calendar. 
 
NEED/ IMPACT: Annually the City Council Work Session and Regular meetings and City Holiday 
Calendar are reviewed and discussed for approval. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: N/A  

ITEM NO: 6G 

ACTION TYPE: 
Review/Discussion  HEARING TYPE: 

Work Session 

DEPARTMENT: CITY ADMINISTRATION 

ATTACHMENT:  YES   NO 
Pages:  
 

PUBLIC HEARING: YES   NO 

INFORMATION CONTACT:  
Tammi Saddler Jones, Interim City Manager  
PHONE NUMBER: (404) 296-6489  



 
 

  
 

 
 

2024 CITY HOLIDAYS 
UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED CITY OFFICES ARE CLOSED ON THE FOLLOWING DAYS 

 

DATE      HOLIDAY 

1. MON, JAN 1      NEW YEAR’S DAY 

2. MON, JAN 15      MARTIN LUTHER KING JR. DAY 

3. MON, FEB 19     PRESIDENTS’ DAY 

4. FRI, MAR 29     SPRING DAY 

5. MON, MAY 27     MEMORIAL DAY 

6. WED, JUN 19     JUNETEENTH CELEBRATION 

7. THURS, JULY 4    INDEPENDENCE DAY 

8. MON, SEPT 2     LABOR DAY 

9. MON, OCT 14     INDIGENOUS PEOPLES’ DAY 

10. TUES, NOV 5     ELECTION DAY (HALF DAY) 

11. MON, NOV 11    VETERANS DAY  

12. THU, NOV 28     THANKSGIVING DAY 

13. FRI, NOV 29     DAY AFTER THANKSGIVING 

14. TUES, DEC 24    CHRISTMAS EVE  

15. WED, DEC 25     CHRISTMAS DAY 

16. THURS, DEC 26    DAY AFTER CHRISTMAS 

17. TUES, DEC 31    NEW YEAR’S EVE  



 

 

 

2024 CITY COUNCIL MEETINGS SCHEDULE 
3921 CHURCH STREET CLARKSTON, GA 30021 

404-296-6489 WWW.CLARKSTONGA.GOV 

MEETING DATES             MEETING TYPE & NOTES 

JANUARY 2  

JANUARY 9 

WORK SESSION 

REGULAR MEETING 
 

JANUARY 30 

FEBRUARY 6 

 

WORK SESSION 

REGULAR MEETING 
 

FEBRUARY 27 

MARCH 5 

 

WORK SESSION 

REGULAR MEETING 
 

MARCH 26 

APRIL 2 

 

WORK SESSION 

REGULAR MEETING 
 

APRIL 30 

MAY 7 

 

WORK SESSION 

REGULAR MEETING 
 

MAY 28 

JUNE 4 

 

WORK SESSION 

REGULAR MEETING 
 

JUNE 18 
 

SPECIAL CALLED MEETINGS AT 10:00AM & 6:30PM 

MILLAGE RATE PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 

JUNE 27 

 
 

JUNE 27 

 

SPECIAL CALLED MEETING AT 6:30PM  

MILLAGE RATE PUBLIC HEARING AND ADOPTION  
 

WORK SESSION AT 7:00PM 
 

JULY 2 

JULY 30 

 

REGULAR MEETING 

WORK SESSION 
 

AUGUST 8  

 
 

AUGUST 27 

 

REGULAR MEETING-THURSDAY, AUGUST 8 

DUE TO NATIONAL NIGHT OUT HELD ON TUESDAY, AUGUST 6 
 

WORK SESSION 
 

SEPTEMBER 3 

SEPTEMBER 24 

 

REGULAR SESSION  

WORK SESSION 
 

OCTOBER 1 

OCTOBER 29 

 

REGULAR SESSION 

WORK SESSION 
 

NOVEMBER 5 
 

NOVEMBER 26  

 

 

NOVEMBER 26  

 

REGULAR SESSION 
 

SPECIAL CALLED MEETING AT 6:00PM 

FY 2025 BUDGET PUBLIC HEARING 

 

WORK SESSION AT 7:00PM 



 

 

 

DECEMBER 3 
 

REGULAR MEETING 

FY 2025 BUDGET PUBLIC HEARING AND ADOPTION 

 

 



CITY OF CLARKSTON 
 

WORK SESSION  
 

BUSINESS AGENDA / MINUTES 
 

MEETING DATE: November 28, 2023  
 
SUBJECT: Review/Discuss next steps with the Brockett Triangle Community Garden. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PURPOSE:  To review and discuss next steps with the Brockett Triangle Community Garden. 
 
NEED/ IMPACT: With the cleanup completed, we salvaged most if not all of the fruit bearing trees planted 
2 years ago, as well as a few fruit plants such as the berries, grapes, etc. The next step will be to till the soil 
and plant rye now and then re-till in the Spring  with plants of the City Council's choosing. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: N/A  

ITEM NO: 6H 

ACTION TYPE: 
Review/Discussion  HEARING TYPE: 

Work Session 

DEPARTMENT: CITY ADMINISTRATION 

ATTACHMENT:  YES   NO 
Pages:  
 

PUBLIC HEARING: YES   NO 

INFORMATION CONTACT:  
Tammi Saddler Jones, Interim City Manager  
PHONE NUMBER: (404) 296-6489  





TABLE 5 

PLANT INVENTORY 
(Brockett Triangle) 

 

PLANT/TREE NAME SIZE  QUANTITY 
Asian Persimmon - tree 5 gal 2 
Asian Pear - tree 5 gal 1 
Loquat - tree 5 gal 3 
Pakistan Mulberry - tree 5 gal 1 
Plum - tree 5 gal 2 
Arbequina Olive (hardy olive) - tree 5 gal 3 
Blueberries - bush 3 gal 8 
Raspberries - bush 3 gal 7 
Feijoa (Pineapple Guava) - bush 3 gal 5 
Muscadines - bush 3 gal 6 
Hardy Kiwi - bush 3 gal 2 
Summersweet Clethra 3 gal 12 
Virginia Sweetspire 3 gal 14 
Wood Oats 1 gal 9 
White Muhly Grass 1 gal 14 
Perennials – mixed 
herbs/pollinators/natives 

4-6 inch containers 200 

Annuals – mixed vegetables & 
flowers 

4-6 inch containers 200 

 



TABLE 6 

WILDFLOWER SEED MIXTURE 
 (Brockett Triangle) 

This mix of grasses and forbs offers season-long color for diverse quail, 

songbird and pollinator habitat. 

 
GA Piedmont UPL Meadow Mix Composition 
 

41.7% Schizachyrium scoparium, 'Blaze' (Little Bluestem, ‘Blaze’) 
24.2% Panicum anceps, GA Ecotype (Beaked Panicgrass, GA Ecotype) 
15.0% Elymus virginicus, PA Ecotype (Virginia Wildrye, PA Ecotype) 
3.7% Rudbeckia hirta, Coastal Plain NC Ecotype (Blackeyed Susan, Coastal 
Plain NC Ecotype) 
3.0% Chamaecrista fasciculata, FL Ecotype (Partridge Pea, FL Ecotype) 
2.7% Coreopsis lanceolata (Lanceleaf Coreopsis) 
1.5% Liatris spicata, FL Ecotype (Marsh Blazing Star, FL Ecotype) 
1.3% Rudbeckia fulgida var. fulgida, Northern VA Ecotype (Orange 
Coneflower, Northern VA Ecotype) 
1.0% Chamaecrista nictitans, NC Ecotype (Sensitive Pea, NC Ecotype) 
1.0% Eryngium yuccifolium, SC Ecotype (Rattlesnake Master, SC Ecotype) 
1.0% Helenium flexuosum, VA Ecotype (Purplehead Sneezeweed, VA Ecotype) 
0.7% Solidago speciosa, Coastal Plain GA Ecotype (Showy Goldenrod, Coastal 
Plain GA Ecotype) 
0.7% Vernonia gigantea, FL Ecotype (Giant Ironweed, FL Ecotype) 
0.5% Baptisia albescens, SC Ecotype (Spiked Wild Indigo, SC Ecotype) 
0.3% Silphium asteriscus var. laevicaule, GA Ecotype (Starry Rosinweed, GA 
Ecotype) 
0.3% Tradescantia ohiensis, AL Ecotype (Ohio Spiderwort, AL Ecotype) 
0.3% Vernonia angustifolia, SC Ecotype (Tall Ironweed, SC Ecotype) 
0.2% Coreopsis leavenworthii, FL Ecotype (Leavenworth’s Tickseed, FL 
Ecotype) 
0.2% Coreopsis tripteris, AL Ecotype (Tall Coreopsis, AL Ecotype) 
 

https://www.ernstseed.com/product/little-bluestem-blaze/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/beaked-panicgrass-ga-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/virginia-wildrye-pa-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/blackeyed-susan-coastal-plain-nc-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/blackeyed-susan-coastal-plain-nc-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/partridge-pea-fl-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/lanceleaf-coreopsis/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/marsh-dense-blazing-star-spiked-gayfeather-fl-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/orange-coneflower-northern-va-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/orange-coneflower-northern-va-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/sensitive-pea-nc-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/rattlesnakemaster-sc-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/purplehead-sneezeweed-va-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/showy-goldenrod-coastal-plain-ga-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/showy-goldenrod-coastal-plain-ga-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/giant-ironweed-fl-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/spiked-wild-indigo-sc-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/starry-rosinweed-ga-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/starry-rosinweed-ga-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/ohio-spiderwort-al-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/tall-ironweed-sc-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/leavenworths-tickseed-fl-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/leavenworths-tickseed-fl-ecotype/
https://www.ernstseed.com/product/tall-coreopsis-al-ecotype/




CITY OF CLARKSTON 
 

WORK SESSION  
 

BUSINESS AGENDA / MINUTES 
 

MEETING DATE: November 28, 2023  
 
SUBJECT: Review/Discuss a resolution activating the Clarkston Downtown Development Authority. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PURPOSE: To review and discuss a resolution activating the Clarkston Downtown Development 
Authority. 
 
NEED/ IMPACT: There are three main decisions for the City Council: 
 
1. Establish the geographic area that will be the “downtown redevelopment area”. 
2. Appoint 7 directors that meet the qualifications. 
3. Choose which members will be appointed for 2, 4 or 6 year initial terms (the initial terms are staggered 

as listed in the resolution, subsequent terms are all four years). 
 
RECOMMENDATION: N/A  

ITEM NO: 6I 

ACTION TYPE: 
Review/Discussion  HEARING TYPE: 

Work Session 

DEPARTMENT: CITY ADMINISTRATION 

ATTACHMENT:  YES   NO 
Pages:  
 

PUBLIC HEARING: YES   NO 

INFORMATION CONTACT:  
Tammi Saddler Jones, Interim City Manager  
PHONE NUMBER: (404) 296-6489  



 
RESOLUTIN NO. ____ 

 
A RESOLUTION TO DECLARE THE NEED FOR A DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT 
AUTHORITY TO FUNCTION IN THE CITY OF CLARKSTON, GEORGIA, PURSUANT TO 
THE PROVISION OF THE DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITIES LAW O.C.G.A. 
36-42-1, et seq. TO APPOINT A BOARD OF DIRECTORS FOR THE DOWNTOWN 
DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY; TO DESIGNATE A DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT 
AREA; TO PROVIDE FOR FILING WITH THE SECRETARY OF STATE OF THE STATE 
OF GEORGIA OF A COPY OF THIS RESOLUTION; TO REPEAL CONFLICTING 
RESOLUTIONS; TO PROVIDE FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE AND FOR OTHER 
PURPOSES: 
 
W I T N E S S E T H: 
 
 WHEREAS, it has been determined by the Mayor and City Council of the City of 
Clarkston, Georgia (the “City”) that there is a need in the City for the revitalization and 
redevelopment of the central business district of the City of develop and promote for the public 
good and general welfare trade, commerce, industry and employment opportunities and to 
promote the general welfare of the State of Georgia by creating a climate favorable to the 
location of new industry, trade and commerce and the development of existing industry, trade 
and commerce within the City; and 
 
 WHEREAS, it has been determined by the Mayor and City Council that revitalization 
and redevelopment of the central business district of the City by financing projects under the 
Downtown Development Authorities Law (1981 Ga. Laws p. 1744; O.C.G.A. 36-42-1, et seq. - 
the “Downtown Development Authorities Law”) will develop and promote for the public good 
and general welfare trade, commerce, industry and employment opportunities and will promote 
the general welfare of the State of Georgia; and  
 
 WHEREAS, it has been determined by the Mayor and City Council that it is in the 
public interest and is vital to the public welfare of the people of the City and of the people of the 
Sate of Georgia to revitalize and redevelop the central business district of the City; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Downtown Development Authorities Law creates in and for each 
municipal corporation in the State of Georgia a downtown development authority for the purpose 
of revitalizing and redeveloping the central business district of such municipal corporation and 
promoting for the public good and general welfare, trade, commerce, industry and employment 
opportunities and promoting the general welfare of the State of Georgia; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council, after thorough investigation, have determined 
that it is desirable and necessary that the Downtown Development Authority of the City be 
activated immediately, pursuant to the Downtown Development Authorities Law, in order to 
fulfill the needs expressed herein. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Mayor and City Council of the City, 
and it is hereby resolved by the same, that there is hereby determined and declared to be a 
present and future need for a Downtown Development Authority (as more fully described and 
defined in the Downtown Development Authorities Law) to function in the City. 



 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that there is hereby activated in the City the public 
body corporate and politic known as the “Downtown Development Authority of the City of 
Clarkston, Georgia” which was created upon the adoption and approval of the Downtown 
Development Authorities Law. 
 
 BE IF FURTHER RESOLVED that there are hereby appointed as members of the first 
Board of Directors of the Downtown Development Authority of the City the following named 
persons, each of whom shall be: 
 
 
 Names       Term of Office 
 
  _________________________________  Two years 
  _________________________________  Two years 
  _________________________________  Four years 
  _________________________________  Four years 
  _________________________________  Six years 
  _________________________________  Six years 
  _________________________________  Six years 
  

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Mayor and City Council hereby find that the 
following directors appointed by this resolution are persons who, in the judgment of the 
governing body of the municipal corporation, either have or represent a party who has an 
economic interest in the redevelopment and revitalization of the downtown development area: 

 
1. ________________________ 
2. ________________________ 
3. ________________________ 
4. ________________________ 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that commencing with the effective date of this 

resolution each of the persons named above as directors shall serve in such capacity for the 
number of years set forth opposite his or her respective name, however, future appointments of 
directors appointed or reappointed shall be for four year terms.  The term of a director (authority 
member) who is also a member of the governing body of a municipal corporation shall end when 
such director (member) is no longer a member of the governing body of the municipal 
corporation. 
  
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Board of Directors appointed by this resolution 
shall organize itself, appoint its own officers, carry out its duties and responsibilities and exercise 
its powers and prerogatives in accordance with the terms and provision of the Downtown 
Development Authorities Law as it now exists and as it might hereafter be amended or modified. 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the “downtown development area” for the 
Downtown Development Authority of the City of Clarkston, Georgia shall be that geographic 
area described in Exhibit A, attached hereto and made a part hereof by reference, which area, in 
the judgment of the Mayor and City Council of the City, constitutes the “central business 
district” of the City as contemplated by the Downtown Development Authorities Law. 



 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the city clerk shall promptly file with the Secretary 
of State of the State of Georgia a certified copy of this resolution in compliance with the 
provisions of § 36-42-5(b). 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that any and all resolutions in conflict with this 
resolution be and the same are hereby repealed. 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that this resolution shall be effective ______________, 
and that from and after said date the Downtown Development Authority of the City shall be 
deemed to be created and activated. 
 
 SO RESOLVED this ________ day of __________________________,  20____. 
 
  
  
  
                                                                        ______________________  
                                                                        Mayor Beverly H. Burks 
 
 
Attest: 
 
 
__________________________ 
Tomika R. Mitchell, City Clerk 
 
Approved as to form: 
 
 
___________________________ 
Stephen G. Quinn, City Attorney 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



QUALIFICATIONS FOR DDA DIRECTORS 

Under the Georgia Downtown Development Law, there are 7 members (called “directors”) on each DDA.  
One of these directors can be a member of the governing body (Mayor or a Councilmember) and I 
understand that Clarkston does want to take this op�on.  Therefore, the City Council will need to appoint 
six addi�onal people to the DDA that meet the qualifica�ons discussed below.   

There are two parts to the qualifica�ons of the DDA directors: 

Part One – Residency or Business Owner/Operator: 

At least five of the directors must be either: 

(a) a resident of the City of Clarkston; or 

(b) an owner or operator of a business located in the downtown development area that resides 
in DeKalb County. 

One director can be an owner or operator of a business located in the downtown development area that 
resides in the State of Georgia (but not DeKalb County). 

Part 2 – Economic Interest 

Out of the 7 total directors (including the Mayor or Councilmember), four of them must also be “persons 
who, in the judgment of the governing body of the municipal corpora�on, either have or represent a 
party who has an economic interest in the redevelopment and revitaliza�on of the downtown 
development area.”  This is a somewhat vague standard that would include the owner/operators of 
businesses but could also include someone that owns commercial property in the downtown 
development area and possibly other persons. 

 



CITY OF CLARKSTON 
 

WORK SESSION  
 

BUSINESS AGENDA / MINUTES 
 

MEETING DATE: November 28, 2023  
 
SUBJECT: Review/Discuss a resolution authorizing proposed changes to the City Council policies and 
procedures. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PURPOSE: To review and discuss a resolution authorizing proposed changes to the City Council policies 
and procedures. 
 
NEED/ IMPACT: Recommend proposed changes and additions to relevant sections of the Clarkston Code 
of Ordinances and City Charter.  
 
RECOMMENDATION: N/A  

ITEM NO: 6J 

ACTION TYPE: 
Review/Discussion  HEARING TYPE: 

Work Session 

DEPARTMENT: CITY ADMINISTRATION 

ATTACHMENT:  YES   NO 
Pages:  
 

PUBLIC HEARING: YES   NO 

INFORMATION CONTACT:  
Councilmember, Susan Hood  
PHONE NUMBER: (404) 296-6489  



1 
 

PROPOSED CHANGES TO CITY COUNCIL POLICY AND PROCEDURES v1 
 

PART 1: Relevant sections of the Clarkston Code of Ordinances, City Charter, and State 
regulations  

Clarkston Code of Ordinances, Article II, Council Meetings 

(a) The regular monthly meetings of the city council shall be held on the first Tuesday of each 
month, commencing at 7:00 p.m. Any regular meeting may be rescheduled by the council and 
reconvened as may be useful and appropriate under the circumstances presented. 

(b) Work session meetings of the city council shall be held on fee (typo is in the ordinance) last 
Tuesday of each month, commencing at 7:00 p.m. 

(Ord. No. 51, § 1, 2-5-73; Ord. No. 111, § 1, 3-7-83; Ord. No. 419 , § 1, 4-3-18)    Charter 
reference— Authority to provide by ordinance, § 2.02; mayor to preside, § 2.03; election of 
vice-mayor, § 2.04. 

Sec. 2-21. - Calling special meetings. 

Special meetings may be held at the call of the mayor or any two (2) council members by 
serving notice on each member of the council as provided in section 2.02 of the Charter.  

Sec. 2-22. - Quorum. 

A quorum shall be determined as provided by section 2.02 of the Charter.     Charter 
reference— Authority to compel attendance of absent members, § 2.02.  The council may, by 
ordinance, adopt rules and by-laws to govern the conduct of its business; including procedures 
and penalties for compelling the attendance of absent members. 

Sec. 2-23. - Meetings open. 

All meetings of the council, regular and special, shall be open to the public.    Charter 
reference— Similar requirement, § 2.02. 

Sec. 2-24. - Attendance by officers. 

The city attorney and chief of police, and other officers or employees of the city when 
requested, shall attend meetings of the council and shall remain in the council room for such 
length of time as the council may direct.    Charter reference— Clerk required to attend all 
meetings, § 2.06. 

 

https://library.municode.com/ga/clarkston/ordinances/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=916048
https://library.municode.com/ga/clarkston/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTITHCH_ARTIICICO_S2.02CICO
https://library.municode.com/ga/clarkston/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTITHCH_ARTIICICO_S2.03MAPROFVEPO
https://library.municode.com/ga/clarkston/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTITHCH_ARTIICICO_S2.04VIYO
https://library.municode.com/ga/clarkston/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTITHCH_ARTIICICO_S2.02CICO
https://library.municode.com/ga/clarkston/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTITHCH_ARTIICICO_S2.02CICO
https://library.municode.com/ga/clarkston/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTITHCH_ARTIICICO_S2.02CICO
https://library.municode.com/ga/clarkston/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTITHCH_ARTIICICO_S2.02CICO
https://library.municode.com/ga/clarkston/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTITHCH_ARTIICICO_S2.06CICL


2 
 

Sec. 2-25. - Rules or order of procedure govern meetings. 

The rules or order of procedure herein contained shall govern deliberations and meetings of 
the council.    Charter reference— Authority to adopt by ordinance, § 2.02. 

Sec. 2-26. - Order of business. 

The order of business shall be as specified in the agenda prepared prior to each meeting. 

Sec. 2-27. - Committee reports. 

The chairman of each respective committee, or the council member acting in such chairman's 
place, shall submit or make all reports to the council when so requested by the mayor or any 
member of the council. 

Sec. 2-28. - Speaking on same subject limited. 

No member shall speak more than twice on the same subject without permission of the mayor. 

Sec. 2-29. - Permission for nonmember to address council. 

No person, not a member of the council, shall be allowed to address the same while in session 
without permission of the mayor.    Charter reference— Authority to punish for refusal to 
obey orders, § 2.02. 

Sec. 2-30. - Reducing of motions, resolutions and ordinances to writing. 

Motions shall be reduced to writing when required by the mayor or the vote of the council. All 
resolutions and ordinances shall be in writing.    Charter reference— Ordinances and 
resolutions to be in written form, § 2.07; recording of vote on each question required, § 2.06. 

Sec. 2-31. - Deciding questions of order. 

All questions of order shall be decided by the mayor of the council with the right of appeal to 
the council by any member. 

Sec. 2-32. - Order of motions and questions. 

Motions to lay any matter on the table shall be first in order; and on all questions, the last 
amendment, the most distant day, and the largest sum shall be first put. 

Sec. 2-33. - Motion for adjourn. 

https://library.municode.com/ga/clarkston/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTITHCH_ARTIICICO_S2.02CICO
https://library.municode.com/ga/clarkston/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTITHCH_ARTIICICO_S2.02CICO
https://library.municode.com/ga/clarkston/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTITHCH_ARTIICICO_S2.07CILE
https://library.municode.com/ga/clarkston/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTITHCH_ARTIICICO_S2.06CICL


3 
 

A motion for adjournment shall always be in order. 

Sec. 2-34. - Robert's Rules of Order. 

In instances where the above rules are silent, Robert's Rules of Order, Newly Revised, may be 
used to determine the procedure. 

Clarkston Code of Ordinances, ARTICLE III, - ETHICS RULES (part) 

Sec. 2-54. - Disclosure and actions following disclosure. 

(b) To avoid the appearance of impropriety, after the mayor or any member of the city council 
is determined to have a conflict of interest or a potential conflict of interest in any matter, the 
mayor or that member of the city council shall leave his or her regular seat as a member of city 
government and not return to it until deliberation and action on the matter is complete. 

City Charter, Sec. 3.02. - City manager… 

(e) Except for the purpose of official investigations, the mayor and members of the city council 
shall deal with city officers and employees who are subject to the direction and supervision of 
the city manager solely through the city manager, and neither the mayor, the city council nor 
its member shall give orders to any such officer or employee, either publicly or privately. 

State regulation OCGA 50-14-1(g) - Remote Attendance at Meetings 

(3) On any other occasion of the meeting of an agency or committee thereof, and so long as a 
quorum is present in person, a member may participate by teleconference if necessary due to 
reasons of health or absence from the jurisdiction so long as the other requirements of this 
chapter are met. Absent emergency conditions or the written opinion of a physician or other 
health professional that reasons of health prevent a member’s physical presence, no member 
shall participate by teleconference pursuant to this subsection more than twice in one calendar 
year. 

 

PART 2: Proposed Changes and Additions 

 
Mayor placing an item on the agenda 
Based on an earlier agreement by council members, the mayor is required to have approval of 2 council 
members to add an item to the agenda.  There does not appear to be a written record of this. 
 
Proposal: 
--Continue with this procedure; include it in adopted policies and procedures. 
 



4 
 

 
Standard Advisory Committees (SACs) 
The city council established several committees to evaluate proposed policies and programs that may be 
placed on the council agenda.  Council members serve as chair and co-chair of each SAC.  A maximum of 
two council members serve on each committee except in cases where the mayor, who can serve on 
three SACs, is also a member.  Citizen members are appointed by the SAC chair and co-chair.  Citizens 
may serve on one SAC at a time. 
 
Proposal: 
--Potential agenda items may come from the relevant SAC. 

--Following discussion and a majority vote by SAC members, items will be placed on a work session 
agenda, subject to the existing requirement for a second. 

--Council members may refer any agenda item to a relevant SAC for more information. 

--The SAC chair/vice-chair must call a meeting within 30 days from when city council refers an item to 
the SAC, or when a meeting is requested by a member of the SAC. 

--Within 2 days of a SAC meeting, the chair/vice-chair should provide a written report of the meeting to 
the mayor, city council and city manager.  

--To meet work session deadlines to add an item to the agenda, SAC meetings should not be scheduled 
the week of work session deadlines. 

--Each SAC should meet at least quarterly; a report of No Action can be issued.   

--The procedures for SAC meetings should be posted and communicated to members. 
 
Agenda Presentations 
Proposal: 
--A maximum of 3 presentations should be scheduled per meeting. 

--Presentations should be made in person whenever possible, rather than remotely.  

--Excluding presentations initiated by the city manager, adding presentations to the agenda requires 
concurrence of 2 council members, as with the addition of any agenda item.   

--If a presentation is initiated by an elected official that person should introduce the presenter. 

--Excluding presentations initiated by the city manager, each presentation is limited to 5 minutes unless 
the mayor approves additional time.   

--Copies of presentation material should be attached to the published agenda packet. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



5 
 

Work Session 
Proposal: 
--Each councilmember and the mayor are limited to 2 agenda items per meeting, except in cases of 
urgency.  
-- The time allocated for discussion and comment on each agenda item is 20 minutes for council 
members and 20 minutes for public comments.  The mayor may extend either or both time limits.  

--For continuity, all agenda items on a work session agenda must appear on the immediately following 
city council meeting agenda.  

 --No item that has been tabled, postponed, deferred, referred to a SAC, withdrawn, etc. by consensus at 
work session should be discussed or voted on at the immediately following city council meeting. 

--Items that have been tabled, postponed, deferred, referred to a SAC, withdrawn, etc. at work session 
should be so noted on the following city council agenda and added to the consent agenda.   

--To ensure that the public is aware of prior discussions on a potential agenda item, council members 
should avoid adding an item to an agenda unless they it has gone to a work session no longer than 2 
months prior.   
 
Actions Related to a Conflict of Interest 
Section 2-54 (b) of the Code of Ethics (see above) requires that an elected official with a conflict of 
interest related to an item must leave their seat before and return after discussion and action on the 
item.   
Proposal: 
--In case of a conflict of interest the elected official should explain why they are recusing themselves and 
must leave the room.   NOTE: Based on input from the city attorney this may need to be changed. 
 
Mayor and Council member Reports 
Proposal: 
--Remarks should relate to meetings attended, upcoming events, resident acknowledgments, etc.  This is 
not a time for discussion by or among council members of council business. 
 
Length of Council Member Discussions  
Section 2-28 of the Code of Ordinances (see above) requires that a council member have permission 
from the mayor to speak more than twice on the same subject.  
Proposal: 
--In the interest of efficiency, during discussions council members are urged to answer questions from 
the mayor and other council members but not to repeat earlier comments and talking points.   

--Council members are urged to keep their comments to a maximum of 3 minutes. 

--In situations where council discussion exceeds 20 minutes, council members are urged to send an 
agenda item to the relevant SAC or defer the item to the next following council meeting. 

 
 



6 
 

Length of Work Session or Council Meeting 

Proposal: 
--All regular city council meetings and work sessions end by 11:00 pm unless there is a majority vote 
taken by 10:30 p.m. to extend the meeting. The city clerk will alert city council at 10:15 p.m. The motion 
to extend should include the title of the item(s) to be considered after 11:00 p.m. and sets a new ending 
time for the meeting.  New items of business will not be discussed after 11:00 p.m. unless a motion to 
consider the item(s) is passed. 
 
 
City Council Meetings: Absences and Remote Attendance 
Section 2.02 of the Charter (see above) addresses adopting rules to compel attendance.  There appear to 
be no written council rules on absences. Traditionally, councilmember absences have been considered 
“excused” when the mayor has been given prior notice.  Per the city attorney, elected officials attending 
remotely (including on Zoom) do not count in making a quorum and cannot vote. 
State law (see above) allows remote attendance twice a year for reasons of health or absence from the 
jurisdiction, unless there is an emergency or written opinion by a medical professional. 
Proposal: 
--Council members should notify the mayor or city manager as soon as possible if they are not able to 
attend a work session or council meeting in person or remotely.  Their absence will be announced at roll 
call. 

--Except in cases of emergency when prior notification is not possible, a council member who is absent 
without notifying the mayor or city manager shall offer an apology to council members and residents at 
the following council meeting.  

--Excluding remote attendances permitted by state law, emergencies, and special called meetings, a 
council member who misses more than a total of two meetings in a calendar year is subject to a fine of 
$350, per missed meeting. (This applies to work sessions and regularly scheduled city council meetings 
and is two missed meeting per year, not two of each type of meeting per year.)  
 
Interaction with the City Attorney 
Proposal: After consultation with the city manager, elected officials may communicate directly with the 
city attorney. 
 
Advice on Potential Ethics Violation or Conflicts of Interest 
Proposal: 
--In any circumstance where an elected official believes they may have a potential conflict of interest, or 
other matters related to ethics, they are encouraged to consult with the city attorney for advice or a 
written opinion.  The city manager may also request advice or an opinion from the city attorney 
regarding an elected official’s potential conflict of interest on matters related to city business. 
 
 
Cash Advances to Elected Officials 



7 
 

Proposal: 
--No cash advances to elected officials are allowed.  

 

PART 3: Suggestions from Council members 

Jamie Carroll 
1. Everything has to go to committee first before it gets on the council agenda 
2. Council members/mayor can only speak twice on each agenda item 
3. Limit on discussion for each agenda item-maybe capped at 30 min per meeting? 
 
 
YT Bell 
•  I’d like to see us reduce elected leaders time (10-15 minutes per agenda item) to comment 
and debate on issues, as well as reduce the time frame of the council meetings and work 
sessions to ensure public comment to end no later than 10PM. 

o Each City Council member will only be allowed 2-3 minutes to debate or ask questions 
for each item and council members should work to not engage in repetitive comments, 
debates, or questions during meetings. 

•  I would like to see an official email at least 24 hours prior to the work session or council 
meeting with basic information on the need to be absent for a meeting to share it with the 
community.  
•  No unexcused absences will be accepted unless for an emergency or verified illness with a 
notice within 24 hours ahead of the scheduled meeting.  ONLY death, sickness, city-related 
travel, or an unforeseen emergency should be an excused absence from any of the work or 
council meetings. 
•  These new rules, once solidified should be updated in the charter and advised on all 
agendas for the public to see and understand. 


	0.011-28-2023 City Council Work Session Agenda
	    (404) 296-6489 ♦WWW.CLARKSTONGA.GOV
	8. ADJOURNMENT

	5A.Agenda Summary Davenport Public Finance Flat Fee Agreement 10.31.2023
	5A0.Davenport PowerPoint - Clarkston, City of, GA - 11.28.23
	5A1.Davenport - Financial Advisor Agreement RESOLUTION
	5A2.City of Clarkston- Financial Advisory Service Agreement Annual Flat Fee REVISED 10.26.23
	5A3.Exected Letter Agreement 2017 Review
	5A4.Executed Letter Agreement 2018 SPLOST
	5A5.Executed Davenport Agreement 2020 SPLOST Bond Fees
	6A.PD - Flock Cameras (LPRs) Summary Sheet
	6A1.Flock Safety Agreement
	6B.PD - GCAP Summary Sheet
	6B1.GACP - Clarkston Letter
	6B2.Assessment Center Process
	6C.PD - Public Safety & Comm. Violence Red. Grant Summary Sheet
	SUBJECT:  Review/Discuss a resolution approving a Service Agreement with Fūsus for cameras to be purchased using the Public Safety and Community Safety Reduction Grant.
	PURPOSE:  To discuss a resolution approving a Service Agreement with Fūsus for cameras to be purchased using the Public Safety and Community Safety Reduction Grant.

	6C1.Fusus Agreement RESOLUTION
	6C2.Fusus Compass Purchase Packet 11.22.2023 Clarkston PD GA
	Offer Letter 11.22.2023 Clarkston GA PD
	Quote Clarkston Police Department (4)
	City of Clarkston - Miliam & Friendship Forrest - CSS Proposal 11.22

	6D. Film Permit Amended Ordinance - Summary Sheet
	SUBJECT:  Review/Discuss an ordinance amending Chapter 10.5 of the Code regarding the regulation of the production of motion pictures, television, and photograph productions.
	PURPOSE:  To discuss amending Chapter 10.5 of the Code regarding the regulation of the production of motion pictures, television, and photograph productions.

	6D1. Ordinance Amending Film & TV to replace City Clerk w Planning Dir 11.21.23
	6E. Regulate Litter Ordinance - Summary Sheet
	SUBJECT:  Review/Discuss an ordinance to adopt the new Chapter 23 of the Clarkston City Code to regulate litter.
	PURPOSE:  The purpose of this ordinance is to protect public health, safety, environment, and general welfare through the regulation and prevention of litter.

	6E.Clarkston Chapter 23 - Litter Control
	Clarkston Litter Stormwater Cover Sheet 11.21.23.pdf
	ORDINANCE NO.

	Litter-Control Ordinance Chapter 23.pdf
	ARTICLE I. GENERAL PROVISIONS
	SECTION 23-1 Purpose and Intent
	SECTION 23-2 Applicability
	SECTION 23-3 Compatibility with Other Regulations
	SECTION 23-4 Severability

	ARTICLE II. DEFINITIONS
	ARTICLE III. PROHIBITION AGAINST WASTE DISPOSAL AND LITTERING IN PUBLIC OR PRIVATE PROPERTY OR WATERS
	Section 23-5  Littering in Public
	Section 23-6  Waste and disposal thereof

	ARTICLE IV. TRANSPORT OF WASTE, TRASH, JUNK AND OTHER MATERIAL
	ARTICLE V. ANIMAL WASTE IN PUBLIC AREAS AND COMMON AREAS OF MULTIFAMILY DWELLINGS
	ARTICLE VI. VIOLATIONS, ENFORCEMENT AND PENALTIES
	Section 23-7  Enforcement
	Section 23-8  Violations
	Section 23-9  Evidence
	Section 23-10 Penalties



	6F. Amending 2023 Holiday Calendar - Summary Sheet
	SUBJECT:  Review/Discuss amending the 2023 City Holiday Calendar adding Friday, December 22, 2023, and Friday December 29, 2023, as a City Holiday.
	PURPOSE:  To discuss amending the 2023 City Holiday Calendar adding Friday, December 22, 2023, and Friday December 29, 2023, as a City Holiday.

	6F1.2023 CITY HOLIDAY SCHEDULE
	6G. 2024 Meeting Dates and Holiday Calendar - Summary Sheet
	6G1.2024 CITY HOLIDAY SCHEDULE
	6G2.2024 Worksession and Regular City Council Meetings
	6H.Brockett Triangle Community Garden-Summary Sheet
	6H.brockett triangle sign (1) - for Tammi
	6H.Rules of the Garden - Brockett Triangle - Mayor - for Tammi
	6I.Clarkston DDA-Summary Sheet
	6I2.Resolution to Activate Clarkston DDA 11.17.23 DRAFT
	6I3.QUALIFICATIONS FOR DDA DIRECTORS
	6J.Policies and Procedure Council Meeting-Summary Sheet
	6J1.Council P^0P 11-20-23 to city manager vi
	6H3.City of Clarkston - General Fund - 1 Table 6 Wildflower Seed Mixture Brockett Triangle - Productive Urban Landscape - for Tammi.pdf
	GA Piedmont UPL Meadow Mix Composition
	41.7% Schizachyrium scoparium, 'Blaze' (Little Bluestem, ‘Blaze’)
	24.2% Panicum anceps, GA Ecotype (Beaked Panicgrass, GA Ecotype)
	15.0% Elymus virginicus, PA Ecotype (Virginia Wildrye, PA Ecotype)
	3.7% Rudbeckia hirta, Coastal Plain NC Ecotype (Blackeyed Susan, Coastal Plain NC Ecotype)
	3.0% Chamaecrista fasciculata, FL Ecotype (Partridge Pea, FL Ecotype)
	2.7% Coreopsis lanceolata (Lanceleaf Coreopsis)
	1.5% Liatris spicata, FL Ecotype (Marsh Blazing Star, FL Ecotype)
	1.3% Rudbeckia fulgida var. fulgida, Northern VA Ecotype (Orange Coneflower, Northern VA Ecotype)
	1.0% Chamaecrista nictitans, NC Ecotype (Sensitive Pea, NC Ecotype)
	1.0% Eryngium yuccifolium, SC Ecotype (Rattlesnake Master, SC Ecotype)
	1.0% Helenium flexuosum, VA Ecotype (Purplehead Sneezeweed, VA Ecotype)
	0.7% Solidago speciosa, Coastal Plain GA Ecotype (Showy Goldenrod, Coastal Plain GA Ecotype)
	0.7% Vernonia gigantea, FL Ecotype (Giant Ironweed, FL Ecotype)
	0.5% Baptisia albescens, SC Ecotype (Spiked Wild Indigo, SC Ecotype)
	0.3% Silphium asteriscus var. laevicaule, GA Ecotype (Starry Rosinweed, GA Ecotype)
	0.3% Tradescantia ohiensis, AL Ecotype (Ohio Spiderwort, AL Ecotype)
	0.3% Vernonia angustifolia, SC Ecotype (Tall Ironweed, SC Ecotype)
	0.2% Coreopsis leavenworthii, FL Ecotype (Leavenworth’s Tickseed, FL Ecotype)
	0.2% Coreopsis tripteris, AL Ecotype (Tall Coreopsis, AL Ecotype)





